A LEGAL SELF-HELP HANDBOOK

for

District of Columbia Prisoners at the D.C. Jail and Correctional Treatment Facility (CTF)

Second Edition

D.C. Prisoners' Project Washington Lawyers' Committee for Civil Rights and Urban Affairs 2011

Introduction

The D.C. Prisoners' Project of the Washington Lawyers' Committee for Civil Rights and Urban Affairs is devoted to advocating for the legal rights of D.C. prisoners. Unfortunately, we do not have the money or legal staff to represent every prisoner. We recognize that most of you have no access to an attorney.

We prepared this handbook to provide you with general information about your legal rights while you are in jail and how to enforce those rights. It is written with you in mind—a person currently confined at the D.C. Jail or Correctional Treatment Facility (CTF) in Washington, D.C. If you are not treated properly while you are in jail, this handbook will help you understand your options. This handbook is designed to help you proceed *pro se*—meaning, without an attorney.

This handbook WILL:

- teach you about some of the rights you have while you are incarcerated.
- outline the steps you must take before you ask a court for help
- help you figure out if you have a legal claim
- get you started, if you do decide to ask a court for help
- give you some court case references

This handbook WILL NOT:

• help you challenge your criminal conviction or your sentence under District of Columbia or federal laws

Instead, you may contact the D.C. Public Defender Service for assistance in preparing papers that challenge your sentence or conviction in a criminal case (*see* Appendix I).

• help you obtain a writ of habeas corpus

Courts have the authority to issue different kinds of writs. The most common writs are for habeas corpus and mandamus. This handbook is not designed to assist with writs of habeas corpus to challenge your sentence or conviction.

• provide you with in-depth information on the law

This handbook is not a legal research manual. For in-depth information, visit your jail library. Books like the *Jailhouse Lawyers' Manual* give you more information on the law. If it is not in your jail library, you may be able to obtain it (often for free) from the publisher¹ or from a friend or relative who has access to the Internet.

• prepare you to conduct a trial

This handbook will help you get started. It will help you decide if you have a legal claim and will tell you how to file the papers to start a lawsuit. If you need to conduct discovery or if there is going to be a trial, you should ask a lawyer or the D.C. Prisoners' Project for help.

• provide you with legal advice

This handbook helps you get started, but does not tell you everything that you need to know. This handbook is not intended to replace the advice of any attorney. **This document does not represent legal advice by the D.C. Prisoners' Project, and it does not create an attorney client relationship. Please rely on your own research!**

Please let us know if you find this handbook helpful, if more subjects should be covered, or if you learn that the jail or court rules have changed.

¹ The Jailhouse Lawyers' Manual (JLM) Ninth Edition main volume is \$30. The Immigration & Consular Access Supplement is \$5. The JLM Spanish language edition is \$15. First class shipping is included in the price. Prices and availability may be subject to change. To purchase JLM or SJLM, send a check or money order payable to Columbia Human Rights Law Review to: Columbia Human Rights Law Review, Attn: JLM Order, 435 W. 116th St., New York, NY 10027.

Summary: What will this handbook tell me about the law?

This handbook will (1) tell you just enough to help you decide whether or not to bring a lawsuit and (2) if you decide to bring a lawsuit, explain how to start your lawsuit. This book will NOT help you prepare for the actual trial. If the judge decides that your case should go to trial, you should seek the help of a lawyer.



Table of Contents

Introduction
Chapter One: Do I Need or Want to Go to Court?
Chapter Two: Am I Required to File a Grievance?
Chapter Three: Do I Have a Legal Claim?
A. Constitutional Claims9
B. Federal Statutory Claims11
C. State (D.C.) Common Law Tort Claims13
Chapter Four: Which Court Should I Use?25
A. Superior Court of the District of Columbia—Civil Division25
B. U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia26
Chapter Five: Who Should I Sue?
A. Your Facility27
B. Your Legal Claims
Chapter Six: How Do I Write a Complaint?
Chapter Seven: How Do I File a Complaint in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia?
Chapter Eight: How Do I File a Complaint in the U.S. District Court of the District of Columbia?
Chapter Nine: How Do I Serve the Defendant(s) with My Complaint?43
Chapter Ten: What Happens After I File My Complaint?47
Appendix A: Grievance Procedures
A. Steps in the Grievance Process at the D.C. Jail
B. Steps in the Grievance Process at the Correctional Treatment Facility (CTF)
Appendix B: Jurisdiction Flowcharts
Appendix C: Sample Complaints for U.S. District Court
Appendix D: Forms for Filing a Complaint in U.S. District Court
Appendix E: Sample Complaint for D.C. Superior Court
Appendix F: Forms for Filing a Complaint in D.C. Superior Court— <i>Civil Actions</i> Branch
Appendix G: Forms for Filing a Complaint in D.C. Superior Court— <i>Small Claims</i> Branch
Appendix H: Standard Form 95 (Federal Tort Claims Act)141
Appendix I: List of Process Servers145
Appendix J: Resources

Chapter One: Do I Need or Want to Go to Court?

There are many things to think about before you decide to file a Complaint and initiate a lawsuit.

1. What exactly is my problem?

If you say or write down what your problem is in a few sentences, this might clarify exactly what the problem is and what should be done to fix it.

2. What have I done to fix the problem?

In general, you should first use the **grievance process** at your jail—not go immediately to the courts.

3. Do I want to go to court?

This is a decision that only you can make. However, there are some more questions that you can ask yourself that might help you make a good decision. You should also know that **if you are in prison** when you file a claim for a violation of the constitution or federal law, you must follow the requirements of the **Prison Litigation Reform Act**.

a. Do I have a *legal* claim?

Some problems and unfair things happen and the law, unfortunately, cannot fix them. So, even if you were treated unfairly or even immorally, this does not always mean that you have a legal claim. Chapter Three will help you start to identify your legal claim.

b. Can I prove my claim?

At some point, you will have to prove your claim. Start thinking about documents that might exist to help your case, witnesses, and so forth. To win in court, you must have a legal claim AND proof of your claim.

c. Even if I win, will I get what I want?

Do you want the court to order a change, to make someone start or stop behaving in a certain way? Do you want money damages? Keep in mind that what you want must be something the court can order. If you sue someone with no money or assets then you might not get money damages.

d. Even if I win and get what I want, will it be worth it?

Going to court can be demanding and expensive. If you cannot pay the required fees all at once, the court may waive the fee for you or allow you to pay the fee over time. Currently, the fee to file a Complaint with the D.C. Superior Court is \$120. The fee to file a Complaint with the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia is \$350. In U.S. District Court, **if you file three lawsuits that are dismissed** for not stating a proper claim, you can only file another lawsuit if you pay the \$350.00 up

front.

Litigation also involves complicated procedural rules. You must follow strict rules and deadlines. It is stressful. For these reasons, it is usually best to go to court only when serious or life-threatening matters are involved, or when you cannot resolve the problem in another way.

These costs to you should be weighed against the benefits that you and others might gain. If your problem is serious or life-threatening, your potential gains are great and very important. You can sue to enforce only your own rights (not someone else's rights). But if your case could greatly improve your own life or improve the lives of others, a lawsuit can be a forceful tool for change.

d. Do I want to testify under oath?

If you file a lawsuit, it is very likely that you will have to testify under oath. That might be at court, and it might be during a deposition. A deposition is where defendants can ask you questions in the presence of a court reporter. You have to answer truthfully under oath. You might not want to go through that for a lot of reasons.

Chapter Two: Am I Required to File a Grievance?

Before filing a lawsuit, you should always first work your way through the grievance process. To file a lawsuit under any federal law, you must accurately and completely file your administrative remedies. Working your way to the final level of the grievance process is called "exhausting your administrative remedies."

Although this requirement is not for claims under D.C. law, it is almost always better to exhaust your administrative remedies. It increases your chance for a successful resolution of the problem, helps to make a paper trail, and shows that you tried to do everything by the rules. It can also provide insight into what the defendants will say in response to a lawsuit.

Both the D.C. Jail and CTF have grievance processes. They are not the same. Be sure to use the right one. To find out how to file a grievance, see your Inmate Handbook and policy statements. Appendix A also explains the steps in the grievance process. Make sure you go through the entire grievance process, including appeals.

Chapter Three: Do I Have a Legal Claim?

To bring a successful lawsuit, you must have a legal claim. The legal claim is the illegal act that happened to you. This is also called a "cause of action."

To start a lawsuit, you file a "Complaint" with the court. *See* Chapter Six. In the Complaint, you will need to list all of your claims. There can be many claims that arise from the same event. For example, if you are beaten by a correctional officer, you might raise claims under the Fifth and Eighth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution (constitutional law), 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (a federal statute), and D.C. common law for assault, battery, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. However, the specific law you choose will require that you prove certain things (sometimes called "elements"). The specific law you choose will also influence who you sue or name as a defendant. Each law also requires that you follow certain deadlines for filing your claim in court.

Federal law vs. state law

Two basic types of laws are federal law and state law. Federal law is made by the federal government (Congress). State law is made by the states (D.C.).

Constitutional vs. statutory vs. common law

- *Constitutional law* is derived from the U.S. Constitution and generally applies only to governments (federal, D.C. government) or those companies that the government contracts with to do jobs that the government usually does (CCA, Unity Health Care).
- *Statutory law* is a law that is made and written down, either by the federal government (federal statutory law) in the U.S. Code or by D.C. (D.C. statutory law) in the D.C. Code. Currently, Title 24 of the D.C. Code refers to Prisoners and Their Treatment.
- *Common law* refers to law that judges make. Every time a judge hears a case, he/she must interpret the law. So, by reading about cases, you can learn about common law. An example of common law that this handbook will mention is D.C. tort law.

A. Constitutional Claims

Every person in the U.S. is protected by the U.S. Constitution. These rights can never be taken away from you. Your rights are a little different depending on whether you have been sentenced already or you are a pre-trial detainee. If you are a pre-trial detainee, you are not supposed to be punished beyond what is necessary to keep order in the facility. If you have been sentenced, your punishment must not be cruel or unusual. Obviously, the D.C. Jail and CTF have the right to limit some of your freedoms. If you feel they go too far, you might have a constitutional claim.

You can bring your claim in U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia (the federal court) if there is a violation of a constitutional right or federal law. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is the law that allows you to sue the city and city employees if they violate your constitutional rights. You can bring D.C. claims at the same time as the federal claim as long as they are about the same incident as the constitutional or federal law violation. You can bring any claim in the D.C. Superior Court. *See* Chapter Four.

Possible Constitutional Claims

The *First Amendment* of the Constitution guarantees freedom of speech, religion, and association (who you hang out with). A claim regarding religious practices, mail, visitation, telephone use, and other communications may involve your First Amendment rights.

The *Fourth Amendment* protects against illegal searches and seizures. In the jail context, this could be unreasonably frequent or abusive searches or strip searches routinely conducted by a person of the opposite sex.

The *Fifth Amendment* guarantees "due process of law." This means you are entitled to fair disciplinary hearings within the jail. If you are not yet sentenced, you can use the Fifth Amendment to protest the conditions of the jail. If you have already been sentenced, use the Eighth Amendment.

The Fifth Amendment also protects D.C. prisoners from discrimination. If you are being discriminated against based on race, sex, ethnicity, mental illness, disability, sexual orientation, or gender identity, you may have a claim.

The *Sixth Amendment* guarantees "assistance of counsel." This includes access to your lawyer. This only applies to criminal cases. That is why public defenders will not take your civil case.

The *Eighth Amendment* protects against cruel and unusual punishment. Unreasonable jail overcrowding, unclean or unsanitary conditions, poor medical care, assault or failure to protect you from assault could all be Eighth Amendment violations. If you are a pre-trial detainee, use the Fifth Amendment to protest jail conditions. *Timing*: Constitutional claims in D.C. must be brought within three years after they occur OR within three years after you are released. *Defenses*: If a person was doing something as part of his job and did not know he was breaking a law, he cannot be sued. This is called "qualified immunity." Luckily, you do not have to prove that a person knew he was breaking a law. After you file your Complaint, some of the defendants will probably say that they have qualified immunity. They will have to prove that they deserve immunity. The judge will decide if that is true.

B. Federal Statutory Claims

1. Americans with Disabilities Act

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and the Rehabilitation Act protect people with disabilities from discrimination. It also says that a person with a disability must be given "reasonable accommodation." An example of a reasonable accommodation might be a handicap bathroom or a wheelchair ramp. If you have a disability, the jail cannot discriminate against you. You must be given reasonable access to all jail services and facilities.

- *Timing*: ADA claims in D.C. must be brought within three years after the ADA violation occurs OR within three years after you are released.
- *Defenses*: The defendants can say they tried to accommodate you. If the court thinks that they really tried and did a good job, the defendants have the defense of "good faith." If it would be too expensive or difficult to accommodate you, the defendants have the defense of "undue hardship."

For example, it is not an undue hardship to provide sign language interpreters to hearing impaired prisoners at disciplinary hearings. But it could be an undue hardship to change a prison machine shop to allow a blind person to work there.

2. Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons and Religious Freedom Restoration Acts

The Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act (RLUIPA) prohibits jails and prisons from totally excluding religious assemblies or unreasonably limiting religious assemblies. If you are not allowed to practice your faith, you may have a claim under this act.

The Religious Freedom Restoration Act (RFRA) guarantees the right to exercise your religion unless there is a compelling reason to not let you. If your religion

mandates certain dress or dietary restrictions, the D.C. jail and CTF must allow you to practice your religion unless there is a good reason, like safety or huge cost, to not let you.

Timing: RLUIPA and RFRA claims in D.C. must be brought within three years after the violation occurs OR within three years after you are released.

3. Federal Torts Claim Act (FTCA)

The Federal Tort Claims Act (FTCA) allows the government to be sued for the negligent (legally irresponsible) and wrongful acts of government employees when they do those acts as part of their jobs. Usually the United States cannot be sued for tort claims, but the FTCA allows you to sue in those specific cases. Instead of holding the individual, such as the guard or warden, liable, the FTCA imposes liability on the United States for damages resulting from that individual's wrongful acts. Under the FTCA you must base your tort claim on the tort law of the state where the harm occurred. For example, if you were assaulted by a **federal employee** in Maryland, you would have to base your claim on Maryland's definition of assault.

The most common time a D.C. inmate would use the FTCA is when you believe that Unity Healthcare has committed medical malpractice or has been negligent. Under federal law (the Federally Supported Health Care Centers Assistance Act), employees of Unity Healthcare are considered federal employees. If you want to sue a Unity worker for medical malpractice you will have to follow the FTCA procedures.

- *Timing:* You must file a claim with Unity within 2 years of the injury.
- Process: Ask for the form titled "Claim for Damage, Injury, or Death and Supplemental Instructions (SF-95)," or see Attachment H. Fill out the form and send it to Meredith Torres, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 300 Independence Ave. S.W., Washington D.C., 20024. They should send you an acknowledgement letter that states your filing date. You should then receive a response with a denial or a settlement offer within six months. You must then file your lawsuit within 6 months of the date of mailing of the response.
- *Defenses:* The defendants may say that they took "due care" in relying on a federal rule or law. They may also claim that their actions involved a "discretionary policy decision." Like qualified immunity, the defendants have to prove these and the judge will decide the issue.

Important to Know

PRISON LITIGATION REFORM ACT

If you are in prison when you file a claim for a violation of the constitution or federal law, you must follow the requirements of the **Prison Litigation Reform Act**.

a) Exhaustion

Before you can file a lawsuit you must "exhaust your administrative remedies." This means you have to file a grievance and appeal it all the way to the final level. **You must do this for each claim against each defendant**. There are very few exceptions to the exhaustion requirement. But if administrative remedies are "not available," you can file your case.

b) Physical Injury

You cannot get money damages for a mental or emotional injury unless you ALSO have a physical injury. For mental or emotional injuries alone, you can get an injunction. An injunction is an order from the court ordering the Defendants to stop the mental or emotional abuse.

You do not have to follow these requirements if you are out of prison when you file your lawsuit.

C. State (D.C.) Common Law Tort Claims

1. What is tort law?

Tort law is concerned with physical, emotional, and financial injuries to people. A person who is injured may be able to recover damages (receive money as compensation) from someone who is liable (legally responsible) for those injuries. Tort law covers intentional injuries and accidents that result from someone's negligence.

2. Do I have a common law intentional tort claim?

Intentional injuries are covered under the category of intentional torts. Some examples of intentional torts include assault, battery, and the intentional infliction of emotional distress.

<u>Assault</u>

Explanation: Assault has different meanings in criminal law and civil law. In civil (tort) law, "assault" means causing a reasonable fear of an immediate harmful or offensive contact. No actual physical contact is needed. Courts have ruled that a person commits assault when he or she: (1) acts intentionally (2) to cause harmful or offensive contact with another person or imminent fear of such a contact, and (3) the other person is thereby put in such imminent fear. See McKinney v. Whitfield, 736 F.2d 766 (D.C. Cir. 1984); Rogers v. Loews L'Enfant Plaza Hotel, 526 F. Supp. 523, 529 (D.D.C. 1981). *Example*: For example, if Dmitri grabs a knife and tries to stab Eric but misses, Dmitri may still have committed the tort of assault. It was probably reasonable for Eric to fear that Dmitri would cause a harmful contact with the knife. Timing: Under D.C. Code, assault claims must be brought within one vear after the incident occurs or one year after you are released. *See* D.C. Code §§ 12-301, 12-302 and question (4) below. Defenses: The defendant might argue that you somehow consented to the assault or that it was not reasonable for you to be apprehensive. For example, the defendant might argue that you are unusually sensitive. The defendant might argue that harm was not imminent or immediate. For example, a mere threat (words) to cause harm later is not assault. The defendant might admit that he assaulted you, but argue that he was allowed to act in this way-or that he was "privileged" to act in that way. For example, if someone is acting in self defense, his assault is often excused or "privileged." Police officers are also privileged to draw their guns, as long as their actions are not excessive. See Jackson v. District of Columbia, 412 A.2d 948, 956 (D.C. 1980). Battery *Explanation*: Battery has different meanings in criminal law and civil law.

Explanation: Battery has different meanings in criminal law and civil law. District of Columbia courts say that "battery is an intentional act that causes harmful or offensive bodily contact." *See Jackson v. District of Columbia*, 412 A.2d 948, 955 (D.C. 1980).

- *Example*: For example, if Ronald punches, kicks, stabs or even poisons Brad, Ronald may be held liable for battery.
- *Timing*: Like assault, claims for battery must be brought within one year after the incident occurs or after you are released. *See* D.C. Code § 12-301 and question (4) below.

Defenses: Same as assault (see above).

Intentional infliction of emotional distress

Explanation: You may have a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress when a person:
(1) intentionally or recklessly
(2) engages in extreme and outrageous conduct
(3) that causes you severe emotional distress

There are several important factors, however. Look at the facts of what happened to you and see if these factors are present.

a. Type of behavior: must be "outrageous"

Insulting or obnoxious conduct or having your feelings hurt is not enough. To have a claim, the behavior that you are complaining about must be "beyond all possible bounds of decency," and "atrocious." The behavior must cause most people in society to be outraged when they hear about what happened. *See Drejza v. Vaccaro*, 650 A.2d 1308 (D.C. 1994).

b. The relationship between the parties

If the defendant knows that the victim is especially susceptible to emotional distress because of some physical or mental condition or if the victim is vulnerable and was totally dependant on the defendant for help, then the defendant's conduct might be considered more outrageous.

Examples: A rape victim who is emotionally distraught depends on a police officer to help her. Instead, the officer throws clothing at her and teases her. This conduct might be outrageous enough to support a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress. *See Drejza v. Vaccaro*, 650 A.2d 1308 (D.C. 1994).

An arrestee has a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress when a police officer holds him down with his knee in his back, squeezes his necks and chokes him, then other officers punches him up to twenty times and kicks him for up to thirty minutes. *See Brooks v. GK District of Columbia*, No. 05-362, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 84118, at *9-10 (D.D.C. Nov. 20, 2006).

- *Timing*: You should file your Complaint within three years after your emotional injury or after you are released. *See* D.C. Code § 12-301(8) and question (4) below. If you suffer emotional harm as the result of a physical injury (battery) however, you should probably file your Complaint within one year.
- Defenses: A defendant might argue that you did not have a legal claim because: the defendant did not act intentionally or recklessly, the conduct was obnoxious but not outrageous, or you did not suffer "severe" enough emotional distress. The defendant might suggest that you are unusually sensitive and there was no reason why he/she should have known this. The defendant might argue that he has a right to say and do things that are hurtful but not outrageous.

3. Do I have a common law negligence claim?

Negligence

Explanation: Negligence is a tort, but it is not an *intentional* tort. For example, if Alice intentionally throws a ball at Ramona and hits Ramona, Ramona has an assault and battery claim. However, if Alice is playing a game and leaves the ball on the floor, then Ramona later trips and falls on the ball—then Ramona might have a *negligence* claim.

Negligence occurs when someone who has a "duty" (or a legal responsibility) does not use enough care in fulfilling that duty. As a result, someone else is harmed. To have a claim of negligence, the plaintiff must allege five things in the Complaint: (a) duty, (b) breach, (c) causation in fact, (d) proximate cause, and (e) injury/damages.

Required Elements

a. Duty

The first step in a negligence claim is to show that the defendant owed you a "duty" or had a legal responsibility to prevent your injury. The District of Columbia must use reasonable care to ensure your safety and care and to provide you with medical care. The District of Columbia has a legal duty to "be responsible for the safekeeping, care, protection, instruction, and discipline of all persons" in the D.C. Jail and other facilities mentioned by statute. *See* D.C. Code § 24-211.02 (2008). The health care professionals who treat you owe you the same standard of care as physicians owe to private patients generally.

See Banks v. York, 515 F. Supp. 2d 89, 102 (D.D.C. 2007) (mem.); *Newby v. District of Columbia*, 59 F. Supp. 2d 35, 37 (D.D.C. 1999).

The District of Columbia, however, may delegate ("give") some of its legal duties to someone else. For example, the District has contracts with Corrections Corporation of America, Inc. (CCA) and Unity Health Care, Inc. to provide services at the CTF. The District of Columbia has delegated its duties, for common law tort purposes, via contract to CCA and Unity Health Care. Thus, CCA now owes inmates at CTF the duty of reasonable care in the safekeeping, care, protection, instruction, and discipline of all persons there. Unity Health Care owes residents of CTF a duty of reasonable care in providing health care services.

b. Breach

A defendant breaches his duty, or legal responsibility, when he does not fulfill that legal responsibility. However, defendants cannot be responsible for every mistake. Instead, a defendant is legally responsible only when he does not use "reasonable care."

What is "reasonable care"? The answer depends on the circumstances. For example, the care that is reasonable when a person must act quickly might be different from the care that is reasonable when a person has a lot of time to respond. You may be required to have an expert to help the court and jury understand what reasonable care is.

<u>Res ipsa loquitor</u>

If the breach of a legal duty is obvious, you might be able to use the theory of *res ipsa loquitor*, a Latin phrase that means "the thing speaks for itself." This legal doctrine allows a jury or judge to find breach even if you have no direct evidence of breach. To use *res ipsa loquitor*, you must establish that: (1) the event that caused your injury ordinarily does not occur unless someone is negligent
(2) your injury was caused by an agency, tool or action within the exclusive control of the defendant (so the cause of your injury is known), and
(3) your injury was not caused by any voluntary action or contribution on your part

See Cobell v. Norton, 355 F. Supp. 2d 531, 541 (D.D.C. 2005); *Hartford Cas. Ins. Co. v. Potomac Elec. Power Co.*, 927 F. Supp. 473, 477 (D.D.C. 1996).

c. Causation in fact

To have a negligence claim, you must show that the defendant's negligence caused your injury. This is usually simple. However, if more than one person could have caused your injury or if your actions helped cause your injury, your claim might be defeated. *See* the defenses of assumption of risk and contributory negligence (below).

d. Proximate cause

The defendant's action is the "proximate" or legal cause of your injury if it was reasonably foreseeable (predictable) that his/her actions would cause your injury.

The injury must be the "natural and probable consequence" of a negligent act and should have been foreseen under the circumstances. For example, prison officials failing to repair a ventilation cover after an inmate complains that it is loose might be the proximate cause of the inmate's injuries when the cover falls on him. *See District of Columbia v. Mitchell*, 533 A.2d 629 (D.C. 1987). Because the prison officials knew that the ventilation cover was loose, they could have "foreseen" that the cover might fall and injure someone.

Proximate cause becomes complex when more than one person might have caused an injury. For example, if a guard leaves his post and, when he does so, another inmate injures you, then a question will arise about whether the guard's actions or the other inmate's actions caused your injury. You can sue them both—or name both of them as defendants in your Complaint.

e. Injury/damages

To have a negligence claim, you must have suffered some sort of harm or loss of property.

You may request money damages to compensate you for your injuries (compensatory damages) or money damages designed to punish the defendant (punitive damages). *Compensatory damages* may include, for example, reimbursement of past or future medical expenses, lost future earnings, or pain and suffering. *Punitive damages*, however, are difficult to obtain. For punitive damages, you must prove that the defendant acted with malice. "Malice" means that the defendant probably knew his actions would cause harm or that he acted with spite or a bad motive. You may **not** recover punitive damages against the District of Columbia, unless you can find a specific law that allows you to do so.

In addition to money damages, you may request an *injunction*. An injunction is an order from the court that requires a person, government entity, or corporation to stop doing something or to start doing something. An injunction might be appropriate if you are suffering an ongoing injury because of the defendant's continuing violations of the law.

See City of Newport v. Fact Concerts, Inc., 453 U.S. 247, 271 (1981); *Feirson v. District of Columbia*, 315 F. Supp. 2d 52, 57 (D.D.C. 2004).

Examples: Common negligence claims include:

Negligent hiring, training, and supervision of employees: These cases involve improper conduct of employees. In cases of abuse by guards, for example, the District of Columbia might be negligent if it did not properly or adequately hire, train, or supervise guards *See Newby v. District of Columbia*, 59 F. Supp. 2d 35 (D.D.C. 1999).

Negligent cell locking system, negligence in controlling inmate movement:

These cases usually involve physical injuries by other inmates. For example, these Complaints might allege that the government or corporation managing the correctional facility was negligent in selecting or using a cell locking system. As a result of that negligence, another inmate left his cell and injured the plaintiff. *See District of Columbia v. Moreno*, 647 A.2d 396 (D.C. 1994); *District of Columbia v. Sterling*, 578 A.2d 1163 (D.C. 1990).

Medical malpractice:

Medical malpractice occurs when a medical professional does not use reasonable care in diagnosing or treating a patient's injury or illness. If you did not receive care or proper care, you might have a claim for medical malpractice.

See District of Columbia v. Wilson, 721 A.2d 591 (D.C. 1998); Toy v. District of Columbia, 549 A.2d 1 (D.C. 1988).

Timing: There is a three-year statute of limitations for negligence actions. This means that you must file your Complaint with the court within three years after the event that caused your injury or within three years of your release. *See* D.C. Code 12-301(8).

Defenses: A defendant will probably challenge one or more of the elements that you must prove for negligence. Thus, a defendant will argue that he/she had no duty, that he/she used reasonable care, that something else caused your injury, or that you suffered no injury. The defendant can also argue that you assumed the risk of injury or that your own negligence "contributed" to your injury ("contributory negligence").

Assumption of risk

Assumption of risk is when you, the plaintiff, voluntarily expose yourself to a danger that you know about. Because you knowingly exposed yourself to danger, you do not have the right to bring a lawsuit if an accident occurs.

See District of Columbia v. Coleman, 667 A.2d 811, 819 (D.C. 1995); *District of Columbia v. Peters*, 527 A.2d 1269, 1274 n.4 (D.C. 1987).

Contributory negligence

Contributory negligence means your injury is, in part, your own fault. In other words, if the defendant proves that you were also negligent and that your negligence contributed to your injury, you will lose your case. The court will consider your negligence—not the defendant's—the proximate or legal cause of your injury. *See District of Columbia v. Coleman*, 667 A.2d 811, 819 (D.C. 1995).

Examples of contributory negligence might include running away from a law enforcement officer during an arrest, violating statutes or regulations, or being under the influence of drugs or alcohol. *See Andrews v. Wilkins*, 934 F.2d 1267, 1272 (D.C. Cir. 1991).

There are narrow exceptions that might allow you to win even if you are contributorily negligent. These exceptions include if your claims are based on certain statutes, the last clear chance doctrine, described below, or if you are contributorily negligent but can prove that the defendant was even more than negligent that the defendant was willfully or wantonly negligent or acted in reckless disregard.

Last clear chance doctrine:

To use the last clear chance doctrine, you should be able to show that:

(1) the plaintiff was in a position of danger that *both* the plaintiff *and* the defendant caused

(2) the plaintiff was unaware of the danger *or* unable to remove himself from the danger

(3) the defendant was aware (or should have been) that the plaintiff was in danger but could not remove himself from the danger, and

(4) the defendant had the means and could have exercised *reasonable care* to avoid the harm to the plaintiff but did not do so.

See Andrews v. Wilkins, 934 F.2d 1267 (D.C. Cir. 1991).

An example of the last clear chance doctrine is when Jose does not see a "wet floor-do not enter" sign and walks into the cafeteria. Meanwhile, Ricky is running with a cart in the cafeteria and sees Jose. The two collide and Jose is injured. Ricky couldn't stop in time. But he could have swerved or yelled at Jose and prevented Jose's injury. Thus, Jose was negligent by entering the cafeteria when he should have seen the sign, but could claim that Ricky had the "last clear chance" of preventing the accident. *See Washington Metro. Area Transit Auth. v. Jones*, 443 A.2d 45, 48-52 (D.C. 1982).

4. When should I bring my tort claim?

For assault and battery, file your Complaint within one year of the incident. For intentional infliction of emotional distress and negligence, file your Complaint within three years of the incident.

If the incident happened in D.C., the statute of limitations does not begin to run until you are released from incarceration. In other words, the time limit you have for filing a Complaint doesn't start until you are no longer in any jail or prison. Once the statute of limitations begins to run, it does not stop if you are re-incarcerated. *See* D.C. Code § 12-302 (tolling statute of limitations until plaintiff is no longer incarcerated).

For example, Bill is at the D.C. Jail and is assaulted in January 2008. He is later transferred to a prison. Bill is released from prison and goes home in January 2012. Bill has until January 2013 to file his Complaint for assault. Even if Bill is arrested in March 2012 he still has only until January 2013 to file.

However, you may still want to file your claim while you are incarcerated. The longer you wait, the harder it may be to find witnesses who remember what happened. Finally, if the incident happened outside of D.C., the statute of limitations will be determined by the laws where the events took place.

5. Are there any special procedures I need to follow to bring a tort claim?

Yes. These requirements are very important. If you do not follow them, your claim will be dismissed—the court will not even decide the issues in your case.

a. Tort claims against the District of Columbia: Notice

If you are bringing a tort action against the District of Columbia or bringing a claim that the District of Columbia must respond to (for example, when you sue a D.C. employee) you must provide notice *in writing* to the Mayor of the District of Columbia, in care of the Office of Risk Management. The Office of Risk Management must *receive* this notice *within six months of the injury, damage, or property loss*. This six-month time limit starts from the day that you were injured or suffered a loss. It is not tolled (the time limit is temporarily stopped) while you are incarcerated. *See* D.C. Code § 12-309.

This notice must mention the following:

- your name, your current address, your home address, your DCDC number, and your Social Security number (you can still send notice if you do not remember your Social Security Number),
- the date and time of your injury or loss of property,
- the exact place where you were injured,
- the cause of the injury or loss of property,
- why the District of Columbia is responsible and should pay the damages you are asking for.

You should also include copies of any related documents such as grievance forms, medical records, bills, or letters.

According to Mayor's Order 2004-10, you should send this notice to the Office of Risk Management—not directly to the mayor himself. Send your notice to:

District of Columbia Office of Risk Management 441 4th Street N.W. Suite 800 South Washington, D.C. 20001 Attention: Claims Bureau

Courts interpret this requirement <u>very</u> strictly. Make sure you follow the instructions and meet the deadline. In about thirty days, you should receive an acknowledgement letter that lists a claim number and the name of the investigator assigned to your claim. If you need to check the status of your claim, contact the Office of Risk Management and give them your claim number and the name of the investigator.

b. Medical malpractice claims: Notice

If you intend to bring a medical malpractice claim (a type of negligence claim specifically about medical care), you must provide notice to the healthcare provider you intend to name as the defendant at least *90 days before you file your Complaint*.

The notice should include "sufficient information to put the defendant on notice of the legal basis of the claim and the type and extent of the loss sustained, including information regarding the injuries suffered." *See* Medical Malpractice Proceedings Act of 2006 § 16-2802.

If you plan to sue Unity Health Care for medical malpractice, this must be done under the FTCA (see page 12). Even if you follow the procedures for the FTCA, you must STILL give notice to Unity at least **90 days** before you file your complaint. The address for Unity Health Care, Inc. is:

Unity Health Care, Inc. 1220 12th Street, S.E. Suite 120 Washington, D.C. 20003

Hospitals and doctors not related to Unity can be sued without the FTCA. These claims would be under normal D.C. tort law (see page 18). You should send notice, or a letter describing your legal claim and injuries, to every medical provider that you intend to name as a defendant. If you do not know the person's address, you can use the address that is registered with the appropriate medical licensing authority. If you do not know the defendant's name or if the defendant was not licensed when the event occurred or when notice is to be given, you do not need to provide this notice. *See* Medical Malpractice Proceedings Act of 2006 § 16-2804.

Chapter Four: Which Court Should I Use?

It is important to bring your case in the proper court. If you file your case in the wrong court, it may be dismissed.² In some circumstances, filing your lawsuit in the wrong court may prevent you from filing the lawsuit in the proper court. At the very least, filing your case in the wrong court will cause you delay.

For events or injuries that happen at the D.C. Jail or Correctional Treatment Facility (CTF), you may be able file your lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of Columbia (federal court) or Superior Court of the District of Columbia (D.C. court).

Which court you choose depends on the claims you want to bring and people you want to sue. Both courts have filing fees you must pay in order to bring a lawsuit. If you are unable to pay you may want to bring your lawsuit in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia (D.C. court). D.C. court has a process called *in forma pauperis* that allows you to file a lawsuit without paying any costs if the court determines that you cannot afford the fees. The federal court has a similar system, but instead of making it free the court allows you to pay off the fee in installments.

A. Superior Court of the District of Columbia—Civil Division

The Superior Court can hear almost any claim. If you have claims that arise under federal statutory or constitutional law, you can file your Complaint in the Superior Court of D.C. If you have claims that arise under federal statutory or constitutional law AND D.C. law -- you *may* also be able to file these claims in the U.S. District Court.

However, if you have claims that arise <u>only</u> under D.C. law (for example, D.C. tort law) and you have no constitutional or federal statutory claims, then you <u>must</u> file your Complaint in the Superior Court of D.C.— not in federal court (U.S. District Court).

1. Civil Actions Branch

You can file any claim in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia, including D.C., federal, and constitutional claims. However, you must ask for more than \$5,000 in your Complaint.

2. Small Claims and Conciliation Branch

² If your Complaint is dismissed "with prejudice" it means that you may not bring the same claims against those defendants again. If your Complaint is dismissed and the order does not say "with prejudice" then you may correct any mistakes and file your Complaint again.

If you are seeking \$5,000 or less, you *must* file your claims in the *Small Claims Branch* of the Superior Court. The Small Claims Branch requires you to personally appear and participate in your case. Even if you have a lawyer, **you must still appear and participate**. For this reason, avoid the Small Claims Branch unless you are going to be released very soon. You can avoid the Small Claims Branch by writing in your Complaint that you seeking more than \$5,000 in damages.

For more help figuring out where to file your Complaint, see the table below and the flowcharts in Appendix B.

B. U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia

This is the federal court. You can file your lawsuit in U.S. District Court if you have a constitutional or federal law claim. *See* Chapter 3. It is okay to have D.C. claims also, but they must be about the **same thing** as the federal claim. However, if you are filing constitutional or federal law claims you must follow the requirements of the **Prison Litigation Reform Act** (see Chapter 3, pg. 13).

For example, if you are being assaulted by a guard and the other guards do not do anything about it that could be a violation of D.C. assault and negligence laws. But it could also be a violation of your Eighth Amendment right against cruel and unusual punishment. If you put both those things in your Complaint, you can bring your claim in U.S. District Court.

If you are filing a lawsuit while still in prison, under the **Prison Litigation Reform Act** you must have a physical injury. Different courts have different ideas about the physical injury requirement and what a physical injury is. Try to be as specific as possible about your injury so that court has every opportunity to consider your injury sufficient.

Examples of Where You Can File Your Complaint			
If you have legal claims of	seeking	then	
common law assault ONLY	damages of \$5,000 or more	you <i>must</i> file in the Superior Court of D.C.	
	damages of less than \$5,000	you <i>must</i> file in the Superior Court of D.C. Small Claims Branch	
common law assault AND federal statutory or constitutional issues	damages of \$5,000 or more	you <i>may</i> file in D.C. Superior Court. <i>OR</i> you may file in the U.S. District Court, <i>IF</i> the assault claim arises out of the same factual circumstances as your federal law (constitutional) claims.	
federal statutory and constitutional issues ONLY	damages of \$5,000 or more	you <i>may</i> file in D.C. Superior Court OR you may file in the U.S. District Court.	

Chapter Five: Who Should I Sue?

Who you will sue—or name as defendants—will depend on a variety of factors, such as the facility where your issue happened, your legal claims, the court that you want to file your Complaint, and the damages that you are seeking. In general, sue everyone you think was responsible for your injury and can provide you with the relief you want. As you select the individuals and entities to name as defendants, keep in mind that you will have to provide each of them a copy of your Complaint and a summons (this process is described in Chapter Nine).

There are a few entities that you should *not* name as defendants. Do not name the D.C. Department of Corrections as a defendant; instead, name the District of Columbia. Do not name the D.C. Jail, Central Detention Facility or Central Treatment Facility as defendants—these are all buildings. Instead, name the organizations (District of Columbia or CCA and Unity Health Care, Inc.) that manage or provide services at your facility.

A. Your Facility

1. D.C. Jail or Central Detention Facility

The D.C. Jail (also known as the Central Detention Facility) is located at 1901 D Street S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003. The phone number is (202) 673-8136.

The D.C. Jail is operated by the District of Columbia Department of Corrections (DOC). The Department of Corrections cannot be sued separately from the District of Columbia. If you sue the District of Columbia, you must provide notice before you file a tort suit. Reread page 22 of this guide.

2. Correctional Treatment Facility (CTF)

The CTF is located at 1901 E Street S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003. The phone number is (202) 547-7822.

The District of Columbia Department of Corrections (DOC) has a contract with the Corrections Corporation of America, Inc. (CCA) to operate this facility. CCA provides all services at CTF, except for health care. CCA is a private, for-profit corporation. CCA is incorporated in Tennessee and its headquarters are located at 10 Burton Hills Boulevard, Nashville, Tennessee 37215. The phone number is (615) 263-3000 or (800) 624-2931.

The District of Columbia has a contract with Unity Health Care, Inc. to provide medical care at CTF and the D.C. Jail. Unity Health Care, Inc. is a non-profit corporation incorporated in D.C. with administrative offices located at 1120 12th Street SE, Suite 120, Washington, D.C. 20003. The phone number is (202) 715-7900.

B. Your Legal Claims

The legal claims that you bring will help determine both who you name as defendants and in which court you file your lawsuit. This section gives you information about how your legal claims affect who you may name as a defendant.

1. Constitutional Violations - "personally involved"

For constitutional violations, you must prove that every defendant was "personally involved" in your injury.

If an employee commits a constitutional violation, the employer is not automatically responsible. You can still sue the employer, but you have to explain how it was "personally involved." For example, you could say the city had a bad policy or that the warden allowed the guards to misbehave even if he was not there when you got hurt.

Some officials have protection from lawsuits. This is called immunity. The court will decide if a defendant has immunity.

Absolute immunity: Judges, prosecutors, and people who make laws cannot be sued for most things they do as part of their jobs.

Qualified immunity: This only applies to government employees like people who work for the D.C. government. It does not apply to CTF. If a person was doing something as part of his job in good faith, he cannot be sued. **You do not have to prove** that a person knew he was breaking a law. After you file your Complaint, some of the defendants will probably say that they have qualified immunity. The judge will decide if that is true.

Other private companies provide your healthcare, food, and other services at the DC Jail and CTF. If you feel they are responsible, you may want to consider suing those companies as well.

2. Common Law (D.C.) Tort Claims

a. Employees as Defendants and Respondeat Superior

You should name the employee directly responsible for your injury as a defendant, as well as his/her employer. Because of the legal doctrine of *"respondeat superior,"* an employer may be liable for the wrongful acts of employees while they are acting within the scope of their employment. You only need to prove that the employee committed the tort and then the employer is automatically responsible.

Note: If you sue a D.C. employee in his official capacity for a common law tort claim, the District of Columbia might be held liable. So, you must provide notice that is received by the D.C. Office of Risk Management within six months of your injury (See pg. 22). If you do not, your claim will be dismissed—you will lose.

b. Employers as Defendants

As mentioned above, when an employee causes you harm, you should also name the employer as a defendant. However, you can also name an employer as a defendant in an additional claim for negligence.

To use the same example as above, if you are at CTF and a guard causes your injury, you may also claim that the guard's misconduct was due to the negligence of CCA in hiring, training, or supervising their employees. Here, you are claiming that CCA is at fault for not using reasonable care in fulfilling their legal responsibilities (their "duties"). Similarly, if a health care worker is negligent in diagnosing or treating your injury or illness and you think this is because Unity Health Care does not properly hire, train, or supervise their employees, you may bring a negligence claim against Unity Health Care and name Unity Health Care as a defendant.

c. The District of Columbia as a Defendant

In general, you should name the District of Columbia as a defendant whenever the District may have to ultimately pay for the damages you are seeking.

If you are in the D.C. Jail, the District of Columbia will likely have to pay for any damages you are awarded. For example, if you name an employee of the District of Columbia (such as a guard) as a defendant, the District of Columbia will likely be liable for any damages.

If you are in the CTF, whether or not the District of Columbia will ultimately have to pay for the damages you are seeking can be complicated

and will depend in part on the contracts between CCA and the District of Columbia and Unity Health Care, Inc. and the District of Columbia. Currently, the CCA must indemnify, or cover and pay for the liability of, the District of Columbia.

However, the District of Columbia has a duty to provide prisoners with reasonable care. If the District gives this duty to a private contractor, the District must use reasonable care in selecting and supervising the entities that it contracts with, such as CCA and Unity Health Care. If in doubt, you should name the District of Columbia as a defendant—*in addition to* other defendants.

Don't forget to provide notice within six months: If you are bringing common law *tort* claims that the District of Columbia will ultimately have to pay, you must send the Office of Risk Management a notice of your injury or loss, received by them no more than six months after the injury happened (See pg. 22).

Chapter Six: How Do I Write a Complaint?

1. What is a Complaint?

A Complaint is a legal document that you write and give to the court and defendants to begin a lawsuit. Your Complaint should state what wrong has been done, what remedy you want, and explain why the court should rule in your favor.

Note: Because a Complaint is the name of a specific legal document, this handbook always uses a capital "C" when referring to the legal document.

Your Complaint must state a legal claim and contain enough information so that the court and the defendants know what the lawsuit is about. Complaints are often dismissed for "failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." This means that even though something bad might have happened and you might have the right to money damages, your Complaint did not clearly state a *legal* claim. Make sure you tell the court what law was broken and how.

2. Should I pay someone to help me write a Complaint?

You might be able to get some help from fellow inmates. Most prisons have people who are known for helping other inmates write Complaints and responding to motions. These people, sometimes called "writ writers," "legal assistants," or "jailhouse lawyers," typically have no formal legal training. However, because they have experience, they can be helpful in formatting the Complaint and helping you understand the filing requirements or legal terms.

However, *be careful* of inmates or others who encourage you to file a lawsuit or ask you to pay them money to file a lawsuit on your behalf. There are individuals who have collected thousands of dollars from others for filing losing lawsuits. Also beware of an outside agency or firm that asks you to pay money to get a "*pro se*" Complaint that you can then file yourself. The agency or firm is probably practicing law without a license and trying to sell something that is not worth your money or time.

3. Can I draft a Complaint on my own?

Writing a Complaint is not especially difficult, especially if you use a form. Just pay close attention to detail. A Complaint should be formatted in a specific way, contain specific information, and be submitted in a specific way. If you file a Complaint that is not accepted for filing, the court will usually return it to you and you may file again after you correct any mistakes. To avoid delay, plan your Complaint carefully before you file it.

4. How exactly do I prepare a Complaint?

Because some types of Complaints are common, there are pre-printed forms that you can use. For examples, *see* the Appendices. In addition to using a form Complaint, you may also create one of your own. This section assumes that you are writing one from scratch, but it applies equally to forms. Where the requirements for a Complaint filed in the Superior Court of D.C. and the U.S. District Court for D.C. are different, this section points out those differences.

- **a. Type or write neatly**: If you cannot type, the Complaint can be handwritten. Write as neatly as possible. It must be written on white paper that is 8 ½ by 11 inches. Double space and write on only one side of the paper.
- **b. Number every paragraph**: You should number every paragraph in your Complaint.
- **c. Organize your Complaint:** There are a number of examples and Complaint forms in the Appendices to this handbook that you should consider in drafting your Complaint. Whether you are using a form or are preparing your Complaint from scratch, be sure to include the following six things:
 - 1.) a caption,
 - 2.) a statement about jurisdiction and venue,
 - 3.) a statement of facts,
 - 4.) a list of claims,
 - 5.) a "prayer for relief," and
 - 6.) your signature.

Each of these parts of a Complaint is described more fully below.

1. Caption

Every paper sent to a court for filing should include a caption on the very first page. A caption does three things: it identifies the court, the parties and the paper being filed.

a. Identify the court:

⇒ U.S. District Court

If you are filing a Complaint in federal court, type or write across the top of the first page:

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
\Rightarrow Superior Court of D.C.

If you are filing a Complaint in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, type or write across the top of the first page:

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIVIL DIVISION

b. **Identify the case:** Below the name of the court, draw a line down the middle of the page. Look in the Appendices for examples. On the right-hand side of the page, about one-third of the way down, draw a horizontal line for the case number.

Then on the left side of the page put your name, address, and phone number, followed by "Plaintiff" and a "v." (for "versus"). Under the "v.", write the names of all of the defendants you are suing, along with their correct addresses and phone numbers. Later, when you file other documents with the court about your case, you only have to list the first plaintiff and the first defendant.

- ⇒ U.S. District Court Write or type: No. _: __-CV-__()
- \Rightarrow Superior Court of D.C.

Draw four horizontal lines and write or ty	pe:
Civil Action No.	
Calendar No.	
Judge	
Next Event:	

The court will fill in the case number, but when you file later documents about your case, you should write the case number.

c. **Identify the document as a Complaint:** Write or type the word "COMPLAINT" in all capital letters below the names of the parties.

2. Statement of Jurisdiction and Venue

This must be near the beginning of the Complaint because the judge will want to know why you are filing your Complaint in his or her court.

a. Jurisdiction

⇒ U.S. District Court

In order for a federal court to have jurisdiction over your claims, you must show that your claims arise from a "federal question." A federal question is either a constitutional claim or a federal law claim. If you have a federal question, cite to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 as the basis for the court's jurisdiction.

\Rightarrow Superior Court of D.C.

D.C. courts have jurisdiction over cases arising within the District of Columbia and involving its laws. The Superior Court of D.C.-Civil Division consists of several "branches." If you are seeking damages of \$5,000 or less, the Small Claims and Conciliation Branch will have jurisdiction and you should file your Complaint there. If you are seeking more than \$5,000, the Civil Actions Branch will have jurisdiction and you should file your Complaint there (*see* Chapter Seven).

Finally, if you are suing a defendant who is a resident of another state, such as CCA, you may mention in your Complaint that the person or corporation conducts significant business within D.C., has sufficient "minimum contacts" with D.C., and that the defendant's acts or omissions caused harm to you in D.C. *See* D.C. Long Arm Statute, D.C. Code Ann. 13-423 (2008) and D.C. Code Ann. 13-334 (2008) (service to foreign corporations).

b. Venue

Venue is the geographic location in which you can properly file your Complaint and bring your lawsuit.

⇒ U.S. District Court

In general, federal venue is in any federal district where one of the defendants lives or where the claims happened. Thus, for claims you will bring arising from your stay at the D.C. Jail or CTF, venue is generally proper in the U.S. District for the District of Columbia.

\Rightarrow Superior Court of D.C.

If you are filing a Complaint in D.C. Superior Court, you may just write that the court has jurisdiction and venue based on D.C. Code Ann. 11-921 (2008) and D.C. Code Ann. 13-423 (2008).

3. Statement of Facts

A short, clear statement of facts is the most important part of your Complaint. You do not need to provide pages of legal analysis in your Complaint. Take your time in drafting the statement of facts, and try to make it complete and persuasive. Use plain English to explain what happened to you, describing key events in detail. Be sure to include facts about how you were harmed by the defendant's actions.

Keep these general rules in mind:

- *State facts that you believe are true:* State facts—not hunches. If you just say that you have a "hunch" that the defendants conspired to injure you, your Complaint will be weak. You need to provide some facts so that the court knows you have a legal claim. When you file a document with the court, you are certifying that what you write is true or that you have good, objective reasons to believe that it is true.
- *Be brief:* Include the important facts in your statement of facts. You do not need to mention every detail, though—only the facts that help establish your legal claim.
- Avoid bad facts: There are two sides to every story. In your Complaint, you should tell yours. You should not mention your own misconduct. You should not mention possible excuses or justifications that the defendants might have. The defendants will put forth their own arguments—you do not need to do it for them. However, if bad facts are necessary for a complete picture of your claims, it may be better for you to state them in the beginning than to wait for the defendant to tell the court about them later.

4. List Your Claim(s)

This is the legal part of your Complaint. First, identify the claims that fit the facts of your case. Make sure you allege every claim that you think may reasonably apply to your case. If you do not bring all of your claims in the same case, you might lose the right to later bring the claims that you did not raise.

Set out each claim in a separate section that is titled with the claim. Make sure you give enough information to show that you have a legal claim (*see* Chapter Three). If you are referring to the same information for multiple claims, each section can repeat the facts that support that specific claim. Or you may "reallege" or "incorporate by reference" the information from the Statement of Facts.

5. State the Relief You Are Seeking

Your Complaint should have a section titled "Relief" or "Prayer for Relief." In it, include all of the things you want the court to do.

Possibilities include:

• **Damages.** You may seek money to compensate you for your loss (compensatory damages). In certain circumstances, you can request money as a punishment for the defendant's actions (punitive damages). In general, you do not have to say how much money you want.

However, if the court's jurisdiction depends on a minimum or maximum amount, you must request damages of at least that amount. Even then, you can request damages "in excess of \$5,000" (to file your Complaint in the Civil Actions Branch of D.C. Superior Court).

D.C. Superior Court, Civil Actions Branch: "in excess of \$5,000"

- Equitable Relief. The Court can provide equitable relief such as an injunction. When a court issues an injunction, it orders the defendants to take certain actions or not to take certain actions. If you ask for an injunction, make sure the defendant can actually take the action or make the changes that you are seeking. For example, a guard cannot change a policy, but the District of Columbia or CCA can. So, do not request an injunction ordering a guard to change a policy; instead, you may request an injunction ordering the District of Columbia or CCA to change a policy.
- A Catch-All Phrase. Consider asking for "such other and further relief the Court deems justified." If you include this catch-all phrase, the court can then give you a remedy that satisfies your concerns but that you did not think to ask for.

6. <u>Request for a Jury Trial</u>

If you want a jury if you go to trial, ask for that right in the Complaint. If you do not, you may not be able to get a jury later.

7. Signature

Unless you are represented by an attorney, you *must* sign your own Complaint. Be sure that at least one of the Complaints that you mail to the court includes your *original signature* (not a photocopy of your signature). Signing in blue ink helps the court recognize an original signature.

8. Attachments

You are not required to attach documents to your Complaint, but may do so if you like.³

³ Using Written Statements: A person can attach a written declaration instead of an affidavit, but it must contain the following phrase: "I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct." Then the person should sign the declaration, date it, and provide his permanent address. If a person does not have a permanent address, he may list the permanent address of a spouse or family member. Providing other information, such as the person's prison I.D. number, Social Security number, and/or a date of birth can be helpful

Chapter Seven: How Do I File a Complaint in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia?

The general framework for preparing a Complaint, described in Chapter Six, applies to lawsuits filed in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. For an example of what a Complaint filed in the Superior Court of D.C. should look like, see the sample in Appendix E. This section will provide you with some additional information about filing a Complaint in the Superior Court of D.C.

1. Choose the Civil Actions Branch or Small Claims Branch

The branch in which you file your Complaint will depend on how much you are seeking in damages.

• Small Claims and Conciliation Branch

The Small Claims and Conciliation Branch decides disputes where the plaintiff is seeking *\$5,000 or less* in damages. Because you must participate in your case if you file your Complaint in the Small Claims and Conciliation Branch, do not file your Complaint here unless you will be released soon.

• Civil Actions Branch

If you are seeking *more than \$5,000* in damages, then the Civil Actions Branch has jurisdiction over the claim. File your Complaint here.

2. Pay the filing fees

The fees for filing a Complaint, having your claim heard by a jury, and filing a motion in the Superior Court of D.C. vary depending on the branch in which you file your Complaint.

• If You Cannot Pay the Filing Fee or Motions fees: File a Motion to Proceed *in Forma Pauperis*

If you cannot pay the fee to file your Complaint, you may file a motion to proceed *in forma pauperis*. This form is included in Appendix F of this handbook. If the court grants this motion, you will not have to pay any court costs.

To file this motion, you should fill out the form motion to proceed *in forma pauperis* in Appendix F of this handbook.

• Small Claims and Conciliation Branch Fees (seeking up to \$5,000)

Filing a Complaint

Seeking \$500 or less	\$5.00
Seeking \$501-\$2,500	\$10.00
Seeking \$2,501-\$5,000	\$45.00
Jury Demand	\$75.00
Filing a Motion	\$10.00

• **Civil Actions Branch Fees** (seeking more than \$5,000)

Filing a Complaint	\$120.00
Jury Demand	
Filing a Motion	\$20.00
Additional summons	\$10.00

Filing Fees change often so check with clerk of the court before filing your Complaint. Fees are payable by cash, money order, or cashier's check made payable to: Clerk, D.C. Superior Court.

3. Gather the required documents together with your Complaint

In order to begin your lawsuit, you should file together at the same time:

1. a completed information sheet

This form is provided in Appendix F. Fill out your name, check the "Self (*pro se*)" box, and check the box if you want a jury trial. Write the amount of damages you are requesting. Then check one box to indicate which type of lawsuit you are bringing. Most often, you will be bringing a property tort or personal tort.

2. your Complaint

Make sure you have the correct number of copies of your Complaint and include one with your original signature.

3. the filing fee OR a motion to proceed in forma pauperis

If you are filing a motion to proceed *in forma pauperis*, make sure you send the completed form. The application is included in Appendix F.

4. for each defendant, an original summons and two copies of the summons

The summons form is provided in Appendix F. A summons is an order from the court for the defendant to answer your Complaint and appear in court when notified to do so.

4. Mail your Complaint and the other documents

Mail your Complaint, together with the documents listed above, to:

Clerk, Superior Court—Civil Division Moultrie Courthouse 500 Indiana Avenue N.W. Room JM-170 Washington, D.C. 20001 Phone: (202) 879-1133

If your claim is for \$5,000 or less, you should follow similar procedures, but must file your Complaint in the Small Claims Branch. You must be present and participate in your trial if you file your Complaint in Small Claims Branch, so do not file your Complaint here unless you will be released soon. For more information, check the rules of the Small Claims and Conciliation Branch. Send your documents to:

Clerk, Superior Court—Small Claims Branch 510 4th Street N.W. Room 120 Washington, D.C. 20001 Phone: (202) 879-1120

Chapter Eight: How Do I File a Complaint in the U.S. District Court of the District of Columbia?

Remember from Chapter Four that the U.S. District Court is a federal court. You can only bring some lawsuits in this court. If you file in this court, you have to pay \$350. You also have to follow the Prison Litigation Reform Act rules.

A. Filing Fee

Unlike in D.C. Superior Court, in U.S. District Court, you always have to pay to file a Complaint. You can pay the fee in installments if you file *in forma pauperis* (IFP). This is a legal term that means "as a poor person." You must fill out the Application to Proceed without Prepayment of Fees and Affidavit form. A copy of this form is included in Appendix D. Every time your jail commissary account balance is more than \$10, you must send a payment to the court until the entire \$350.00 is paid.

If you want to file your Complaint IFP you will need to submit to the court:

- (1) A completed and signed form to request to proceed IFP. (A copy of this form is included in Appendix D).
- (2) A certified copy, by the finance officer, of your inmate trust fund account with your income and average balance over the past six months. You can get a copy of this account from the Finance Office.
- (3) A completed and signed authorization form that permits the jail or CTF to withdraw up to \$350 from your account.

Under the Prison Litigation Reform Act, **if you file three lawsuits that are dismissed** for not stating a proper claim, you can only file another lawsuit if you pay the \$350.00 up front. The only exception is if you are in "imminent danger." It does not count if you *were* in imminent danger, you must still be in imminent danger when you file the lawsuit.

B. Addresses

You must give the full address for you and every defendant or your suit could be thrown out. If you are suing someone in his official capacity, use his work address. D.D.C. LCvR 11.1.

C. Filling out Forms

You must always use a Civil Cover Sheet, Form JS-44. *See* Appendix D. This is just a form to help the court understand what kind of lawsuit you are filing.

If your claim is for a constitutional violation, it is really easy to file a claim in U.S. District Court. Just fill out the Complaint for Violation of Civil Rights

form in Appendix D. You MUST use this form for all constitutional claims. Make sure to write neatly. Sign in ink. Keep a copy and send the original and another copy to the court.

If you have another federal law claim or state claims that arise from the same incident, follow the instructions in Chapter Six on how to write a complaint. There are sample and form Complaints in the Appendix to help you.

Mail your original Complaint and a copy to this address:

U.S. District Court Clerk's Office 333 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Room 1225 Washington, D.C. 20001

D. Getting a Lawyer

Unlike criminal court, **you do not have a right to a lawyer in a civil lawsuit**. However, if you are proceeding *pro se* and the court has granted your Motion to Proceed *In Forma Pauperis*, the judge may appoint you a lawyer. The judge may decide to appoint you a lawyer on his own or you can request a lawyer using a Motion for Appointment for Counsel. *See* Appendix D.

Having a lawyer greatly increases your chances of winning and, if you are appointed a lawyer, he/she will represent you for free. The judge will make his or her decision based in part on how good your case is. So it is very important to write a good Complaint. However, if you are appointed an attorney, and that attorney does not think you have a legal claim, he or she does not have to continue to represent you.

Chapter Nine: How Do I Serve the Defendant(s) with My Complaint?

Filing your Complaint with the court is only the first step. The defendants you have named in your lawsuit must also receive "service of process"—the term for officially notifying the defendants that they have been sued by providing each of them a copy of the Complaint and a summons.

1. If the court grants your motion to proceed *in forma pauperis*, you do not need to serve the defendants.

⇒ U.S. District Court

If you filed your Complaint in federal court and have been allowed to proceed *in forma pauperis*, the court is responsible for seeing that all defendants receive service of process. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(c)(2).

⇒ Superior Court of D.C.

If you filed your Complaint in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia and the court granted your motion to proceed *in forma pauperis*, then the court will see that all defendants receive service of process (a copy of your Complaint and a summons).

2. If the court does NOT grant your motion to proceed *in forma pauperis*, you must serve the defendants.

The rules for service of process must be followed carefully. The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the D.C. rules governing service of process are roughly the same. This section summarizes some of the more important features of these rules, but you should review the relevant rules themselves before attempting to serve the defendants. Read Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 and D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 4.

a. Complete the summons form

Generally, service of process requires sending a copy of the Complaint and a summons to each defendant. A "summons" is a formal document that is signed by the clerk of the court.

You must use the proper summons form for the court in which you file your Complaint. A copy of the federal summons form and the D.C. summons forms are included in the Appendices. Complete all the portions of the summons form that you can complete (i.e., caption of Complaint, name and address of the defendant to be served with the summons). Then copy the summons form the appropriate number of times for the court in which you are filing.

Send the summons and the copies of summons to the clerk's office with your Complaint. These forms are not effective until signed by the clerk of the court and you receive acknowledgement.

b. Serve individuals, corporations, and governments

Being incarcerated limits your ability to serve the defendants, but it is not impossible. Generally, service can be made personally or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. It is important to have a record that you completed service to show the court.

Personal service (handing a copy of the summons and Complaint to each defendant) can be made by any person, such as a friend, who is eighteen years of age or older, or you can hire a process server. A list of process servers is included in Appendix H.⁴

Serve the summons and Complaint at the address listed in your Complaint for each defendant. For individuals, you should list their home or work address. There are special rules, however, for serving corporations and government agencies.

Corporations

Corporations receive service of process via the corporation's "registered agent for service of process" or a corporate officer or managing or general agent. You may find out who the "registered agent" is by contacting the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs, Corporation Division, 941 N. Capitol St., First Floor, Washington, D.C. 20001, phone (202) 442-4430.

For both Unity Health Care, Inc. and the Corrections Corporation of American, Inc., the current registered agent for service of process to whom you can serve your summonses and Complaint is:

CT Corporation System 1015 15th Street N.W. Ste. 1000 Washington, D.C. 20005

⁴ D.C. Prisoners' Project has no information as to the quality of these process servers. We provide this list simply as a service to you.

District of Columbia & Mayor of the District of Columbia

For the District of Columbia and the Mayor of the District of Columbia, you must deliver the summons and Complaint to registered agents.

Currently, if you name the District of Columbia as a defendant, service of process must be made upon *two* different agents—the agent for the Mayor *and* the agent for the Attorney General of D.C. The registered agents currently are:

For the Mayor (The Hon. Vincent Gray)

Tabitha Braxton, Abby Frankson, Erica Easter, or Arlethia Thompson Office of the Secretary John A. Wilson Building 1350 Pennsylvania Avenue N.W. Suite 419 Washington, D.C. 20004

For the Attorney General for the District of Columbia

Darlene Fields, Tonia Robinson, or Gale Rivers Office of the Attorney General for the District of Columbia 441 4th Street N.W. Room 600-South Washington, D.C. 20001 Phone: (202) 671-2042

c. Serve the defendants before the deadlines

In federal court you have <u>120 days</u> from the date the Complaint is filed in which to serve all of the defendants. Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(m). If you file in federal court, there is a form you can send to the defendants asking them to waive the technical requirements of service. That form is in Appendix D.

In D.C. courts, you have <u>only 60 days</u> from the date the summons is "issued" (i.e., signed by the clerk) in which to serve all of the defendants. You can file a motion for an extension of these deadlines, but you have to explain the efforts you have made to serve all of the defendants.

If you are not filing *in forma pauperis* it can be difficult to serve all of the defendants. If it seems like a lot of trouble, don't give up. Defendants may waive all of the technical requirements of service if they actually receive a

copy of the Complaint and have sufficient time to answer. You can ask the court to appoint someone to serve the defendants for you by filing a motion, but don't delay in getting the defendants served.

d. As your case proceeds: serving documents other than the Complaint

Every piece of paper that you file with the court must also be sent to all of the defendants. However, only the Complaint requires service by the cumbersome methods detailed above. Once a defendant has filed something with the court, you should simply mail copies of your filings <u>to any</u> <u>attorney</u> that has filed an appearance on behalf of any defendant. Include this information in a "certificate of service" attached to the end of every paper you file. *See* Chapter Ten.

Chapter Ten: What Happens After I File My Complaint?

1. The Defendant(s) Will File an "Answer"

A. What is an Answer?

After the defendants get your Complaint, they must respond to you and the court. They respond by filing a legal document called an "Answer." In the Answer, the defendants will tell you and the court whether they think certain facts and allegations are true. The defendants will read your Complaint and either "admit" or "deny" the facts you wrote. If the defendants do not either "admit" or "deny" something in your Complaint, it is the same as if they had "admitted" it.

The Answer must include the defendants' "affirmative defenses." An "affirmative defense" is when the defendants say that even if they did what you said in your Complaint, they cannot be held responsible. Common affirmative defenses are self-defense, statute of limitations, or qualified immunity. If the defendant does not put the defense in the Answer, he "waives" it. This means he can never bring it up again.

B. When does a defendant have to file an Answer?

In federal court and in D.C. Superior Court, defendants have 20 days to file an Answer from the date they receive the summons. The District of Columbia, however, has 60 days in which to file an Answer. A defendant might ask the court for more time.

C. I haven't received an Answer. Why?

There are several reasons why a defendant will not file an Answer.

- The defendant will claim that he/she did not receive your Complaint and summons. This is why it is very important to make sure you have proof that the defendant actually received your Complaint and summons.
- The defendant "moves" or asks the court to transfer the case. The defendant will file a motion with the court and you will receive a copy. You must respond to the defendant's motion. Additionally, you should also demand that an Answer be filed.
- The defendant "moves" or asks the court to dismiss the Complaint. The defendant will file a motion with the court and you will receive a copy. If the court grants the defendant's motion, your lawsuit will be thrown out of court without the judge or a jury deciding any of the facts or enforcing your rights. Some common reasons why the court might

dismiss your Complaint include that you filed your Complaint in federal court but did not exhaust your administrative remedies (you did not go all the way through the grievance process at the D.C. Jail or CTF), or that you brought a tort action against the District of Columbia, but did not provide the District with notice of your injury within sixty days after it occurred. Another common reason why Complaints are dismissed is because they do not state a *legal* claim.

If the defendant files a motion to dismiss, he is not required to file an Answer until the motion is denied. If the defendant files a motion to dismiss instead of an Answer, read the motion carefully. The defendant will list the mistakes in your Complaint. You may want to correct these mistakes and file an amended Complaint.

D. Do I have to reply to an Answer? Do I have to reply to a motion?

- Answer: When a defendant files an *Answer*, you do not need to file any response unless the answer contains a counterclaim (that is, a claim against you), or the court orders you to file a reply. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 7(a).
- **Motion:** When a defendant files a *motion* instead of an Answer, however, you must respond to the motion. The next section discusses how to file and respond to motions.

2. You and the Defendant(s) Might File a "Motion"

A. What is a motion?

A "motion" is a request for the court to do something. In general, if you want the court to do something, you must file a motion.

To make a motion, title your motion "Plaintiff's Motion for _____" and fill in the blank with what you want the court to do. For common motions, some courts provide pre-printed forms that you simply fill out and file with the court.

Every time you file a motion with the court, there is usually a fee. The Superior Court of D.C. waives this fee, however, if they have granted your Motion to Proceed *In Forma Pauperis*.

B. Which motions will I use or need to know about?

Listed below are some motions that you may wish to file at some point during your case, with a brief description of the standards you must meet to have the motion granted. This is not a complete list of all motions. As a *pro*

se litigant, you should not worry about formal names. Rather, try to use simple English to convey your request.

Motion to Proceed In Forma Pauperis

Use one of the forms in the Appendices or draft your own that contains:

- (a) a complete listing of your assets (money and property)
- (b) a listing of your debts, and
- (c) a statement that you cannot afford to pay the filing fee or other fees associated with your case

Motion for Appointment of Counsel

Unlike criminal cases, you do not have the right to an attorney in a civil case. Different courts have different standards for granting this discretionary relief. Generally, your motion should explain:

- (a) the merits of your case and how it may help you and others
- (b) why you can't pay for an attorney
- (c) your efforts to find an attorney to represent you without payment, and
- (d) the difficulty you will have in representing yourself because of the complexity of the legal issues, the amount of factual discovery needed, your lack of education, your difficulties with the English language, or any disabilities which will make it hard for you to prosecute your case

Motion for Extension of Time

If you need more time to respond to a motion or to comply with a court order, do not hesitate to ask for a reasonable extension of time. Try to file the request before the deadline. Brief extensions are routinely granted, particularly when it is the first request for an extension and has been filed before the original deadline passed.

You will increase your chances of obtaining an extension if you explain to the court why you are having difficulty filing a response in the time allowed (e.g., a lockdown, administrative detention, limitations on the use of the library) and explain why you will be able to respond within the extension you request.

C. Do I respond to the defendant's motions?

If you *agree* with the defendant's motion, you can simply not respond and allow the court to grant it or you can file a notice that you consent to defendant's motion. Consenting may speed up the court's decision on the motion. It also shows that you are fair and reasonable.

However, you will probably disagree with most motions filed by a defendant. If you *disagree* with the defendant's motion, you must respond to the defendant's motion.

D. When do I respond to the defendant's motions?

You have a limited amount of time to respond to any motion, but the amount of time varies depending on the court and the type of motion. Check the local rules of the court to determine how much time you have to respond. If you cannot figure out how much time you have to respond, try to respond as quickly as you are able. If it takes you longer than two weeks, include a section in your response detailing any unusual difficulty you had in filing your response. ⁵

E. How do I respond to the defendant's motions?

When you receive a motion, read the motion carefully and try to read all statutes, rules, or cases cited in the motion. See if they say what the defendants say they do. See if the cases are really about situations like yours. Before starting to write your response, take some time to list the things in the motion with which you agree and disagree. If you disagree with the legal standards involved, you will need to research the laws and cases cited in the motion to challenge them.

If you disagree with the facts, you may need to submit evidence to support your side. Try to make your points plainly without overstating your case. You don't have to use big words—in fact, it's better not to. And make your sentences short and simple.

The two motions that defendants most often file against prisoners are motions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment. Although similar motions, the standards that must be met to have these two motions granted are very different:

Motion to Dismiss

This kind of motion looks only at the allegations of your Complaint and argues that it is somehow defective. The defendant typically argues that your Complaint <u>does not state a legal claim</u>. In making such a motion, the defendant will ordinarily identify the claims made in your Complaint and the standards for stating those claims.

⁵ For purposes of meeting filing deadlines in *federal* court, an inmate's legal papers are considered "filed" as of the date they are delivered to a prison official for mailing. *Houston v. Lack*, 487 U.S. 266, 270-71 (1988) ("inmate mailbox rule").

In responding to this kind of motion, identify all claims that the defendant did not address (or may have overlooked) and explain how you have met the standards for stating the claims in your Complaint (See Chapter Three). For those claims that were addressed, consider whether the defendant has a point. Abandoning weak or baseless claims can enhance your credibility with the defendant(s) and the court. Otherwise, explain to the court the reason that your claims should be considered.

Do not hesitate to amend (edit) your Complaint to include facts/information that will clarify or state another claim or identify other defendants. You amend a Complaint by asking the court's permission in your own motion. If the court grants your Motion to Amend Complaint, you then submit a new, better written Complaint.

Motion for Summary Judgment

This is the kind of motion in which the defendant(s) argues that you don't have enough evidence to prove your point. In response, you can argue that the motion ignores questions of fact that are not yet resolved, that you have evidence to prove your claims, or that you need time to get the evidence that will prove your claims. Sometimes you can argue all of these.

You should file all evidence that you have to support your claims in response to a motion for summary judgment. In particular, you should prepare a sworn statement that you sign, either as an affidavit or (when allowed) a sworn declaration. The affidavit or sworn declaration should state the evidence or the facts that you would tell the court if you were to testify in a court hearing.

F. Do I need to sign my motions and documents to be filed in court?

Yes. The Rules of Civil Procedure (both state & federal) require that every document filed with the court bear the name, address, and signature of the person who files it. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 11, D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 14. Please be aware that your signature on such a pleading means that you promise (legally}) that the document is well grounded in fact and is based on existing law or on a proposed extension of existing law. By signing it you are also promising that you are not using the document to harass someone or cause an unnecessary delay in the lawsuit.

G. Do I need to mail the defendant(s) a copy of the motions and documents that I file with the court?

Yes. You **<u>must</u>** mail a copy of every paper you file with the court to all defendants and include a statement that you have done so in the paper itself. D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 5. This is commonly called the "certificate of service" and it is usually the last page of every document filed. You can simply include a statement below your signature that "I mailed a copy of this paper to counsel for all parties on [date]." However, the rules of civil procedure technically require a little more, and attorneys typically take a more formal approach to the requirements of this rule, such as the following:

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of my *Motion for Extension of Time [title of your paper being filed]* was served by first class mail, postage prepaid, on the date indicated below upon the following counsel of record:

Catherine Randolph Name of Law Firm 1098 K St. N.W. Washington, D.C. 20008 [Name and address of the defendant's attorney]

Tohn B. Smith [your signature]

Date

John B. Smith [your name]

3. If Your Claim is Not Dismissed, Conduct Discovery

A. What is discovery?

Discovery is anything that you do to obtain evidence to support your case.

Informal discovery includes talking with witnesses, copying information from newspapers or other public sources, and keeping careful notes about things that you have seen or heard that are relevant to your claims. You should begin informal discovery long before you file your Complaint.

Formal discovery is a legal process which provides a few different ways to obtain evidence from defendants. You can ask for discovery of anything that

is relevant to your case. Defendants will also serve discovery on you. That means you may have to answer interrogatories, document requests and requests for admissions. You will also likely be deposed, meaning that the opposing attorneys will come and ask you questions.

There are four key types of discovery:

Interrogatories

These are a list of questions directed to the defendant. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 33; D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 33.

Document Requests

These are a list of documents you want from a defendant. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 34; D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 34.

Requests for Admissions

These are a list of facts to which you believe a defendant may admit. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 36; D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 36.

Depositions

A deposition is an interview of a witness taken under oath and recorded by a stenographer or video camera. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 30; D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 30. You can also do a deposition with written questions. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 31; D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 31.

For prisoners who are representing themselves, the most important discovery tools are interrogatories and requests for documents. Defendants generally admit little or nothing, and courts will not ordinarily permit prisoners to conduct depositions.

Typically, courts do not allow the parties to serve discovery on each other until after some initial conference is held or a motion to dismiss is denied. *See* Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(1)(E)(iii) (action filed by prisoner *pro se* is exempt from initial disclosures, discovery planning conference). Formal discovery is mailed to defendants, but it is not filed with the court unless it is being attached to a motion or a response to a motion.

If you get to the point where you are in discovery, write the D.C. Prisoners' Project for more advice. You may need the help of an attorney.

4. After Discovery, Settle Your Case or Go to Trial

A. Will my case go to trial?

Most civil cases do not go to trial. Instead of going to trial, the parties reach a settlement agreement. A settlement conference is like a negotiation, where the plaintiff and defendant (and their attorneys) discuss the case and try to reach a compromise. If they can agree, the plaintiff agrees to drop his/her lawsuit in return for something from the defendant (usually money). The settlement agreement is like a contract. A civil case only goes to trial if the parties cannot reach a settlement agreement. If your case reaches the point of a settlement conference and you are unsure of how to negotiate, write to the D.C. Prisoners' Project.

B. How do I conduct a trial?

How to conduct a trial is beyond the scope of this handbook. There are numerous rules governing witnesses, whether you have a right to a jury, how the jury is chosen, and how evidence is admitted (and objected to) during the trial. If you are going to go to trial, ask the court to appoint an attorney for you—file a Motion for Appointment of Counsel. If the court denies your motion, write to the D.C. Prisoners' Project for help. We cannot make any promises, but maybe we can find someone to help you.

Appendix A: Grievance Procedures

DC Jail Grievance Guide

Following all of these steps **protects your legal rights**. This process is long and hard, and your requests may not even be answered. But, it is important because prisoners must finish all steps before suing under federal law about prison conditions. If you stop before completing the entire process because you did not receive a response, did not have the proper form, or any other reason, the court may say that you have not "exhausted" your administrative remedies and throw out your case. Don't take that chance. **Finish the process**.

Be persistent. Follow directions. If you get a response that asks you to submit your paperwork again, attach a staff memo, or add additional copies, do it. Don't ever give up. Start with Step 1 right away by filing an informal resolution as soon as possible. **Then continue with all the appeals**. Make sure you follow the next step even if you never got a response to the last thing you submitted. If you are late filing your grievance or appeal, turn it in anyway and explain why you are late.



- You can get a form from any staff member assigned to your housing unit or in the law library
- If you cannot get a form, use regular paper and write:
 - Name and DOC number
 - Name of institution/correctional center where you are housed





Then you should receive a response to your grievance within 15 days of your submission.

OR

If you did not get a response to the Informal Resolution after 15 days:

- You then have 5 more days to file a grievance (IGP Form 1 Grievance). Put it in the Grievance Box.
 - You can get a form from any staff member assigned to your housing unit or in the law library
 - If you cannot get a form, use regular paper and write:
 - Name and DOC number
 - Name of institution/correctional center where you are housed
 - The complaint or grievance, date it happened, and what you want
 - Your signature and the date

Then you should receive a response to your grievance within **15 days** of your submission, unless otherwise noted.

STEP 3 – DEPUTY DIRECTOR APPEAL

If you get a response (to the Grievance) and you disagree with it or it does not fix your problem:

- File an appeal
 - File within **5 days** after you get the response
 - Use IGP Form 2 Appeal Deputy Director
 - Include a copy of the original grievance and the Warden's response and any other supporting documents. You can submit your appeal on regular paper

Then the Deputy Director should respond to you within **21 days** of when you submitted the appeal

OR

If you did not get a response to the Grievance after 15 days



3) Appeal by filling out IGP Form 2 Appeal – Deputy Director



- You then have **5 more days** to file an appeal
 - Use IGP Form 2 Appeal Deputy Director
 - You need to include a copy of the original grievance and any other supporting documents. You should also say you never got a response. You can submit your appeal on regular paper.

Then the Deputy Director should respond to you within **21 days** of when you submitted the appeal.

STEP 4 – DIRECTOR APPEAL

If you get a response (to the IGP Form 2 – Deputy Director) and you disagree with it or it does not fix your problem:

- File an Appeal
 - You must submit this appeal within **5 days** from receiving your appeal response
 - Use IGP Form 3 Appeal Director, submit it along with the original grievance form and all the responses you received. If you cannot get the form, use regular paper.

Don't forget, file a final appeal

even if you never received any

responses!

Then, the Director should respond to your appeal within (21) days of receiving it.

OR

If you did not get a response from the Deputy Director after 21 days,

You then have 5 days to file a Final Appeal.

- Use IGP Form 3 *Appeal Director*, submit it along with the original grievance form and any responses you received. You should also say you never got a response. If you cannot get the form, use regular paper.
- Then, the Director should respond to your appeal within (21) days of receiving it

Congratulations! This process is now complete and you have preserved your right to file in court.

This Guide has been created by the D.C. Prisoners' Project of the Washington Lawyers' Committee for Civil Rights and Urban Affairs. It is not intended to replace the advice of an attorney. It is not legal advice and does not create an attorney client relationship. You are responsible for meeting all necessary deadlines and requirements.



4) File a Final Appeal using IGP Form 3 Appeal Director

Use blank paper if you cannot get

a form

CTF Grievance Guide

Following all of these steps **protects your legal rights**. This process is long and hard, and your requests may not even be answered. But, it is important because prisoners must finish all steps before suing under federal law about prison conditions. If you stop before completing the entire process because you did not receive a response, did not have the proper form, or any other reason, the court may say that you have not "exhausted" your administrative remedies and throw out your case. Don't take that chance. **Finish the process**.

Be persistent. Follow directions. If you get a response that asks you to submit your paperwork again, attach a staff memo, or add additional copies, do it. Don't ever give up. Start with Step 1 right away by filing an informal resolution as soon as possible. **Then continue with all the appeals**. Make sure you follow the next step even if you never got a response to the last thing you submitted. If you are late filing your grievance or appeal, turn it in anyway and explain why you are late.



STEP 1 - INFORMAL RESOLUTION

Within 7 days of the incident you are grieving, request and fill out 14-5A Informal Resolution Form. If it is related to medical care and treatment you must submit it through facility mail to the health services staff. Otherwise, you can submit it through facility mail or in person to the appropriate staff unit (the grievance coordinator). You can put your grievance in the Grievance box on your unit.

STEP 2 - FORMAL GRIEVANCE

If you get a response (to the Informal Resolution) and you disagree with it or it does not fix your problem,

- File a formal grievance (14-5B Inmate/Resident Grievance form) within 5 days of the response date listed on the Informal Resolution Form.
 - You must attach a copy of the 14-5A you previously turned in.
 - After filling out page 1 of the form, put it in a sealed envelope and put that in the Grievance box.
 - You should get a written response within **15 days**

OR

File a grievance even if you never received a response!



3) Appeal by filling out the bottom half (Appeal Section) of your Grievance form



File an appeal even if you never received a response!

4) Appeal to the Contract Monitor on a <u>blank sheet of paper</u> (there is no form) If you did not received a response (to the Informal Resolution form) after 15 days,

- You then have **5 more days** to submit the **14-5B Inmate/Resident Grievance** form.
 - You must attach a copy of the 14-5A you previously submitted.
 - After filling out page 1 of the form, put it in sealed envelope and put that in the Grievance box.
 - You should get a written response within **15 days**

STEP 3 - APPEAL TO THE WARDEN OF CTF

If you get a response (to the Formal Grievance) and you disagree with it or it does not fix your problem,

- You must submit an appeal within 5 calendar days.
 - To file an appeal, fill out the **appeal section of the 14-5B form** and resubmit the grievance.

Then you should receive a documented response stating the reasons for approval or disapproval **within 15 days**.

OR

If you did not received a response (to the Formal Grievance) after 15 days,

- Then you have **5 more days** file an **appeal**.
 - To file an appeal, complete the appeal section of the 14-5B form and resubmit the grievance.

Then you should receive a documented response stating the reasons for approval or disapproval **within 15 days**.

STEP 4 - APPEAL TO THE DC DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS CONTRACT MONITOR

If you get a response (from the Warden) and you disagree with it or it does not fix your problem,



no form)

• You must appeal to the Contract Monitor within 5 days of receiving the Warden's Decision. Your appeal must have the original grievance and all responses attached to it.

If you do not receive a response from the Warden after 15 days,

• If you do not get a response within 15 days, you then have 5 days to appeal to the Contract Monitor. Your appeal must have the original grievance and any responses attached to it. If you never received a response, include that information in the appeal.

STEP 5 - APPEAL TO THE DIRECTOR OF THE D.C. DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

• If you are not satisfied with the Contract Monitor's response, you should appeal to the Director of the DC Department of Corrections within 5 days of receiving the Contract Monitor's decision. Your appeal must have the original grievance and any responses attached to it. If you never received a response, include that information in the appeal.



Congratulations! This process is now complete and you have preserved your right to file in court.

This Guide has been created by the D.C. Prisoners' Project of the Washington Lawyers' Committee for Civil Rights and Urban Affairs. It is not intended to replace the advice of an attorney. It is not legal advice and does not create an attorney client relationship. You are responsible for meeting all necessary deadlines and requirements.
Appendix B: Jurisdiction Flowcharts

I am bringing claims that arise <u>ONLY</u> under <u>D.C. law</u>. Where should I file my Complaint?



I am bringing claims that arise under D.C. <u>AND</u> federal law. Where should I file my Complaint?



You *must* file your Complaint in the Superior Court of D.C. If you are bringing tort claims against D.C. or a medical malpractice claim, you must have given proper notice to the defendants.

I am bringing claims that arise <u>ONLY</u> under <u>federa</u>l law. Where should I file my Complaint?



Appendix C: Sample Complaints for U.S. District Court

The parts in "handwriting" print are for you to change to fit your situation.

The regular print may also have to be changed, but generally should go in a Complaint.

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

YOUR NAME, Pro se CORRECTIONAL TREATMENT FACILITY 1901 E STREET, SE WASHINGTON, D.C. 20003 (202) 673-8136 Plaintiff,))))))))
v. CORRECTIONS CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC. 10 BURTON HILLS BLVD. NASHVILLE, TN 37215 (800) 624-2931))))
Defendant.)))

COMPLAINT

This is an action seeking monetary damages stemming from injury Plaintiff received as a result of Defendant's violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1331 federal question because an ADA claim is a matter of federal law.

2. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1391(a) because the events giving rise to this claim took place in this judicial district.

PARTIES

3. Plaintiff, *Your Name*, is an inmate at the Central Treatment Facility (hereinafter "CTF"), located at 1901 E Street S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003. He entered the facility on *date*.

4. Defendant Corrections Corporation of America, Inc. (hereinafter "CCA") is a business incorporated in Tennessee doing business in Washington, D.C. and operates the CTF in Washington, D.C.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

DESCRIBE THE FACTS OF THE SITUATION. Use as many numbers as you need, but be clear and to the point.

5. Fact one

6. Fact two

CLAIM FOR RELIEF

7. Defendant CCA refused to provide reasonable accommodation to Plaintiff's disability in violation of the ADA. As a result of Defendant's violation, Plaintiff suffered bodily injuries and physical and mental pain.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant for damages, costs and all other relief as this Court deems necessary and proper.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands trial by jury of all issues triable by jury as of right.

Dated:

Respectfully submitted,

By **SIGN HERE**

[YOUR NAME], Pro Se

Appendix D: Forms for Filing a Complaint in U.S. District Court

- D-1: Prisoner In Forma Pauperis Instructions
- D-2: Application to Proceed In Forma Pauperis
- D-3: Consent to Collection of Fees from Trust Account
- D-4: Civil Cover Sheet
- D-5: Instructions for Filing a Civil Rights Violation Complaint
- D-6: Application for Appointment of Counsel

UNITED STATES DISTRICT AND BANKRUPTCY COURTS FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

INSTRUCTIONS TO PRISONER LITIGANTS REGARDING THE FILING OF A CIVIL COMPLAINT AND APPLICATION TO PROCEED IN FORMA PAUPERIS

Listed below, you will find very important information relating to the preparation of a civil complaint for filing in this Court. **Please read the instructions carefully.** The filing fee for a civil action is \$350.00. Pursuant to the amendments to 28 U.S.C. § 1915, a prisoner must pay the full filing fee when bringing a civil action. If, however, insufficient funds exist in the prisoner's account, the court must assess a partial filing fee. Thereafter, the prisoner is required to make monthly payments of the preceding month's income. The agency having custody of the prisoner must forward payments from the prisoner's account to the Clerk of Court each time the amount in the account exceeds \$10.00, until the filing fee is paid.

You may request permission from the court to proceed in forma pauperis, following the assessment of the initial filing fee, by completing the enclosed Application to Proceed without Prepayment of Fees and Affidavit.

- \Rightarrow The name of this Court must be written at the top of the first page of your complaint. (Sample format attached).
- Your <u>name</u>, <u>address</u> and <u>prisoner identification number</u> must appear in the caption. All defendants <u>must</u> be named in the caption. The use of et al. is <u>not</u> permitted as the rules require you to name each defendant. Please provide the address of each named defendant.
- The word **COMPLAINT** must appear under the caption. Clearly set out your grievance in the body of the complaint, name those against whom you have a grievance, and what you would like the Court to do to correct the situation.
- \Rightarrow Your complaint must be <u>legibly</u> handwritten or typed on white, letter-size (8 1/2 x 11 inch) paper. Write only on the front of each page. Your complaint <u>must</u> be double-spaced. If you are requesting a jury trial, the jury demand must be stated in your complaint. You <u>must</u> originally sign your complaint in ink.
- A Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus or a complaint under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, submitted by anyone incarcerated in a District of Columbia facility, <u>must</u> be on Court approved forms. The filing fee for a habeas corpus petition is \$5.00.
- ♀ You <u>must</u> file the originally signed complaint, as well as the originally signed Application to Proceed without Prepayment of Fees. In addition, you are required to file a Consent to Collection of Fees from Trust Account form, Prisoner Trust Account Report, and a six-month certified copy of your prison trust account statement.
- Preparation of the summons will be the responsibility of the Clerk's Office. If you are granted your request to proceed in forma pauperis, your summons and complaints will be served by the U.S. Marshal, when the Judge so directs.
- Please mail your complaint and all other appropriate documents to: U.S. District Court Clerk's Office, 333 Constitution Avenue, NW, Room 1225, Washington, DC 20001.

AO 240 (Rev. 07/10) Application to Proceed in District Court Without Prepaying Fees or Costs (Short Form)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT for the		
District of		
Plaintiff/Petitioner v.)))) Civil Action No.	
Defendant/Respondent)	

APPLICATION TO PROCEED IN DISTRICT COURT WITHOUT PREPAYING FEES OR COSTS (Short Form)

I am a plaintiff or petitioner in this case and declare that I am unable to pay the costs of these proceedings and that I am entitled to the relief requested.

In support of this application, I answer the following questions under penalty of perjury:

1. *If incarcerated*. I am being held at:

If employed there, or have an account in the institution, I have attached to this document a statement certified by the appropriate institutional officer showing all receipts, expenditures, and balances during the last six months for any institutional account in my name. I am also submitting a similar statement from any other institution where I was incarcerated during the last six months.

2. If not incarcerated. If I am employed, my employer's name and address are:

My gross pay or wages are: \$______, and my take-home pay or wages are: \$______ per

(specify pay period) _____.

3. Other Income. In the past 12 months, I have received income from the following sources (check all that apply):

□ Yes	🗖 No
□ Yes	🗖 No
Yes	🗖 No
□ Yes	🗖 No
🗖 Yes	🗖 No
□ Yes	🗆 No
	 Yes Yes Yes Yes

If you answered "Yes" to any question above, describe below or on separate pages each source of money and state the amount that you received and what you expect to receive in the future.

4. Amount of money that I have in cash or in a checking or savings account: \$

5. Any automobile, real estate, stock, bond, security, trust, jewelry, art work, or other financial instrument or thing of value that I own, including any item of value held in someone else's name (describe the property and its approximate value):

6. Any housing, transportation, utilities, or loan payments, or other regular monthly expenses (describe and provide the amount of the monthly expense):

7. Names (or, if under 18, initials only) of all persons who are dependent on me for support, my relationship with each person, and how much I contribute to their support:

8. Any debts or financial obligations (describe the amounts owed and to whom they are payable):

Declaration: I declare under penalty of perjury that the above information is true and understand that a false statement may result in a dismissal of my claims.

Date:

Applicant's signature

Printed name

UNITED STATES DISTRICT AND BANKRUPTCY COURTS FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

CONSENT TO COLLECTION OF FEES FROM TRUST ACCOUNT

Civil Action No.

I, _____, Reg. No. _____, hereby consent for the appropriate prison official to withhold from my prison account and to pay the U.S. District Court an initial fee of 20 percent of the greater of:

- the average monthly deposits to my account for the six-month period immediately (a) preceding the filing of my complaint; or
- (b) the average monthly balance in my account for the six-month period immediately preceding the filing of my complaint.

I further consent for the appropriate prison officials to collect from my account on a continuing basis each month, an amount equal to 20 percent of each month's income. Each time the amount in the account reaches \$10.00, the Trust Officer shall forward the interim payment to the Clerk's Office, U.S. District Court, until such time as the \$350.00 filing fee is paid in full.

If appropriate, I will execute the institution consent form where I am housed, which will permit the staff to withdraw the amount ordered by this court as payment for the filing fee each month until the \$350.00 filing fee is paid in full.

By executing this document, I also authorize collection, on a continuing basis, of any costs imposed by the District Court.

Signature of Plaintiff

Date

CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON THE REVERSE OF THE FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS		DEFENDANTS		
 (b) County of Residence of (EXC (c) Attorney's (Firm Name, A) 	CEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)	NOTE: IN LANE	f First Listed Defendant (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES O O CONDEMNATION CASES, US NVOLVED.	·
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	CTION (Place an "X" in One Box Only)	III. CITIZENSHIP OF P	RINCIPAL PARTIES(Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff
□ 1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	 3 Federal Question (U.S. Government Not a Party) 	(For Diversity Cases Only) PT Citizen of This State □		
2 U.S. Government Defendant	 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III) 	Citizen of Another State	of Business In A	Another State
		Citizen or Subject of a Foreign Country	3 🗖 3 Foreign Nation	
IV. NATURE OF SUIT	(Place an "X" in One Box Only) TORTS	FORFEITURE/PENALTY	BANKRUPTCY	OTHER STATUTES
 130 Miller Act 140 Negotiable Instrument 150 Recovery of Overpayment & Enforcement of Judgment 151 Medicare Act 152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans (Excl. Veterans) 153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits 160 Stockholders' Suits 190 Other Contract 195 Contract Product Liability 210 Land Condemnation 220 Foreclosure 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 245 Tort Product Liability 290 All Other Real Property 	Slander 368 Asbestos Person 330 Federal Employers' Liability Liability 340 Marine Product Liability 1370 Other Fraud Liability 370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending 350 Motor Vehicle 380 Other Personal 355 Motor Vehicle 385 Property Damage Product Liability 385 Property Damage Product Liability 385 Property Damage Product Liability 1970 Vehicle 385 Property Damage Product Liability 1970 Vehicle 385 Property Damage Product Liability 1970 Vehicle 1970 Ve	 Conter Food & Drug Conter Food & Drug Conter Food & Drug Conter Food & Drug Conter Food & Drug Related Seizure Conter Conter Relations To Fair Labor Standards Act To Fair Labor Standards Act To Labor/Mgmt. Relations To Labor/Mgmt. Relations To Conter Labor Labor Litigation To Security Act To Security Act MMIGRATION 463 Habeas Corpus - 	 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157 PROPERTY RIGHTS 820 Copyrights 830 Patent 840 Trademark SOCIAL SECURITY 861 HIA (1395ff) 862 Black Lung (923) 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) 864 SSID Title XVI 865 RSI (405(g)) FEDERAL TAX SUITS 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant) 871 IRS—Third Party 26 USC 7609 	 400 State Reapportionment 410 Antitrust 430 Banks and Banking 450 Commerce 460 Deportation 470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations 480 Consumer Credit 490 Cable/Sat TV 810 Selective Service 850 Securities/Commodities/ Exchange 875 Customer Challenge 12 USC 3410 890 Other Statutory Actions 891 Agricultural Acts 892 Economic Stabilization Act 893 Environmental Matters 894 Energy Allocation Act 900 Appeal of Fee Determination Under Equal Access to Justice 950 Constitutionality of State Statutes
□ 1 Original □ 2 Rem	"X" in One Box Only) loved from court 3 Remanded from Appellate Court Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you a	Reopened (specifi		ict D 7 Appeal to District Judge from Magistrate Judgment
VI. CAUSE OF ACTIO		ie ming (Do not the jurisaicuona	n statutes uness uiversity).	
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:	CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION UNDER F.R.C.P. 23	N DEMAND \$	CHECK YES only JURY DEMAND:	if demanded in complaint:
VIII. RELATED CASE IF ANY	(S) (See instructions): JUDGE		DOCKET NUMBER	
DATE	SIGNATURE OF A	TORNEY OF RECORD		
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY				
RECEIPT # AM	OUNT APPLYING IFP	JUDGE	MAG. JUI	DGE

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

I. (a) Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then the official, giving both name and title.

(b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)

(c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting in this section "(see attachment)".

II. Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.C.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.

United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.

United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.

Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.

Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; federal question actions take precedence over diversity cases.)

III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this section for each principal party.

IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If the nature of suit cannot be determined, be sure the cause of action, in Section VI below, is sufficient to enable the deputy clerk or the statistical clerks in the Administrative Office to determine the nature of suit. If the cause fits more than one nature of suit, select the most definitive.

V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.

Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.

Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing date.

Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.

Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or multidistrict litigation transfers.

Multidistrict Litigation. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407. When this box is checked, do not check (5) above.

Appeal to District Judge from Magistrate Judgment. (7) Check this box for an appeal from a magistrate judge's decision.

 VI.
 Cause of Action.
 Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause.
 Do not cite jurisdictional statutes

 unless diversity.
 Example:
 U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.

Demand. In this space enter the dollar amount (in thousands of dollars) being demanded or indicate other demand such as a preliminary injunction.

Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

)
)
)
)

(Enter your full name, prison number and address)

v.

_____)

(Enter the full name and address(es), if know, of the defendant(s) in this action)

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS

Instructions for filing a Complaint by a Prisoner Under the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1983

This packet contains one copy of a complaint form and one copy of an application to proceed *in forma pauperis*. To start an action, you must file an original and one copy of this complaint form.

Your complaint must be clearly handwritten or typewritten and you must sign and declare under penalty of perjury that the facts are correct. If you need additional space to answer a question, you may use another blank page.

Your complaint can be brought in this Court only if one or more of the named defendants is located within the District of Columbia. Further, you must file a separate for each claim that you have unless they are related to the same incident or problem. The law requires that you state only facts in your complaint.

You must supply a certified copy of your prison trust account, pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. §1915, effective April 26, 1996. The filing fee is \$350.00. If insufficient funds exist in your prison account at the time of filing your complaint, the court <u>must</u> access, and when funds exist, collect an initial filing fee equal to 20 percent of the greater of:

- (1) the average monthly deposits to your prison account, or
- (2) the average monthly balance of your prison account for the prior six-month period.

Thereafter, you are required to make monthly payments of 20% of the preceding month's income. The agency having custody over you must forward payments from your account to the clerk of the court each time the amount in the account exceeds \$10.00 until the filing fees are paid.

Therefore, before an assessment can be made regarding your ability to pay, you <u>must</u> submit a certified copy of your prison account for the prior six-month period.

When this form is completed, mail it and the copy to the Clerk of the United States District Court for the District of Columbia, 333 Constitution Ave., N.W., Washington, D.C. 20001.

I. SUCCESSIVE CLAIMS

Pursuant to the Prison Litigation Reform Act of 1995, unless a prisoner claims to be in "imminent danger of serious physical injury," he or she may not file a civil action or pursue a civil appeal *in forma pauperis* "if the prisoner has, on three or more occasions, while incarcerated or detained in any facility, brought an action or appeal in a court of the United States that was dismissed on the grounds that it is frivolous, malicious, or they failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted."

II. PREVIOUS LAWSUITS

- A. Have you begun other lawsuits in state or federal court dealing with the same or similar facts involved in this action? Yes () No ()
- B. Have you begun other lawsuits in state or federal court relating to your imprisonment? Yes () No ()
- C. If your answers to A or B is Yes, describe each lawsuit in the space below. (If there is more than one lawsuit, describe the additional lawsuits on another piece of paper, using the same outline.)
 - 1. Parties to this previous lawsuit.

Plaintiffs:

Defendants:

2. Court (If federal court, please name the district; if state court name the county.)

3. Docket number: _____

4. Name of judge to whom case was assigned:

5. Disposition (for example: Was the case dismissed? Was it appealed? Is it still pending?)

- 6. Approximate date of filing lawsuit:
- 7. Approximate date of disposition:

III. PLACE OF CONFINEMENT

- A. Is there a prisoner grievance procedure in this institution? Yes () No () If your answer is Yes, go to Question III B. If your answer is No, skip Questions III, B, C and D and go to Question III E.
- B. Did you present the facts relating to your complaint in the prisoner grievance procedure? Yes () No ()
- C. If your answer is Yes to Question III B:

1. To whom and when did you complain?

2. Did you complain in writing? (Furnish copy of the complaint you made, if you have one.) Yes () No ()

- 3. What, if any, response did you receive? (Furnish copy of response, if in writing.)
- 4. What happened as a result of your complaint?
- D. If your answer is No to Question III B, explain why not.
- E. If there is no prison grievance procedure in the institution, did you complain to prison authorities? Yes () No ()
- F. If your answer is Yes to Question III E;
 - 1. To whom and when did you complain?

- 2. Did you complain in writing? (Furnish copy of the complaint you made, if you have one.) Yes () No ()
- 3. What, if any response did you receive? (Furnish copy of response, if in writing.)
- 4. What happened as a result of your complaint?

IV. PARTIES

In item A below, place your name and prison number in the first blank and your present address in the second blank. Do the same for additional plaintiffs, if any.

A. Name of Plaintiff: _______Address: ______

In item B below, place the full name of the defendant(s) in the first blank, their official position in the second blank, their place of employment in the third blank, and their address in the fourth blank. Do the same for additional defendants, if any.

Defendant		
Address:		
Defendant		
Address:		
Defendant		
Address:		
Defendant	 	
Address:		

V. STATEMENT OF CLAIM

State here briefly as possible the <u>facts</u> of your case. Describe how each defendant is involved. Include the names of other persons involved, dates, and places. If you intend to allege a number of related claims, number and set forth each claim in a separate paragraph. Attach extra sheets, if necessary.

VI. RELIEF

State briefly exactly what you want the Court to do for you.

Signed this ______, _____,

(Signature of Plaintiff)

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

(Date)

(Signature of Plaintiff)

n:\Forms\42 USC 1983

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

	/)
Plaintiff,)
)
)
VS.)
)
	/)
Defendant(s).)
)

Case No.____

MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL

I, YOUR NAME, hereby apply for appointment of Counsel. In support of my application I declare under penalty of perjury that the following facts are true:

(1) I am the plaintiff in the above-entitled case and I believe I am entitled to redress.(2) Because of my poverty I am unable to pay a reasonable attorney fee.

(3) I have made diligent efforts to obtain legal counsel but because of my poverty I have been unable to secure same.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on DATE.

Signature of Plaintiff

Appendix E: Sample Complaint for D.C. Superior Court

The parts in regular print should go in your Complaint. However, you will need to change the facts (the events that took place, your injuries). The parts in "handwriting" should also be changed.

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIVIL DIVISION

John B. Smith		
3812 Main St.	:	
Washington, D.C. 2000	7	÷
(202) 111-2222	-	
Plaintiff	:	Civil Action No.
V.		Calendar No. Judge
۷.	•	Next Event:
Corrections Corporation of America, Inc. 10 Burton Hills Boulevard	:	
Nashville, Tennessee 37215 (800) 624-2931,	:	JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
District of Columbia	:	
441 4th Street N.W.	:	
Washington, D.C. 20001		
(202) 727-6295,	:	
and	:	
Adam Butler	:	
1776 L Street N.W.		
Washington, D.C. 2000	6:	
(202) 222-3456		
Defendants	:	

COMPLAINT

Comes now Plaintiff John B. Smith ("Plaintiff"), with his complaint against defendants Corrections Corporation of America and the District of

Columbia, and alleges as follows:

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE

- 1. Jurisdiction of this court is founded on D.C. Code Ann. § 11-921 (2001).
- 2. Plaintiff John B. Smith is and was, at all times relevant hereto, a prisoner in custody of the District of Columbia Department of Corrections (DOC). At the time of the events relevant hereto, Mr. Smith was incarcerated in the Central Treatment Facility (CTF), a facility operated by the Corrections Corporation of America (CCA). Mr. Smith is currently incarcerated at CTF.
- Defendant the District of Columbia has contracted with defendant CCA to provide services at the CTF. *See* D.C. Code § 24-261.05 (formerly § 24-495.5).
- 4. Defendant CCA is incorporated and has its headquarters in Nashville, Tennessee. CCA has sufficient contacts with the District of Columbia, deliberately avails itself of business opportunities in the District of Columbia, and committed acts and omissions in the District of Columbia that lead to Plaintiff's harm. *See* D.C. Code Ann. § 13-423 (2008).
- 5. The amount in dispute is greater than \$5,000.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

You will need to change ALL of the facts to fit your situation.

- 6. On January 3, 2008 at approximately 8:15 p.m., Correctional Officer Butler at the CTF told Plaintiff John Smith to leave the cafeteria where Plaintiff was mopping the floor.
- 7. Plaintiff responded that Correctional Officer *Thompson* told him to remain there until he returned and told him to leave.
- 8. Correctional Officer *Butler* told Plaintiff to leave immediately or he would be punished. \square
- 9. Plaintiff, following Correctional Officer *Butler's* instructions, began to leave the room when, without just cause or provocation, the defendant Correctional Officer *Butler* grabbed the mop from Plaintiff and hit him across the head and back with the handle, causing the Plaintiff to suffer serious injuries.
- 10. Attached here as part of the claim is a sketch of the cafeteria—the place of the incident. *See* sketch of Cafeteria, attached hereto as Exhibit "A."

COUNT ONE: ASSAULT AND BATTERY

- 11. Plaintiff incorporates herein the allegations made in paragraphs 1-10 of this Complaint.
- 12. This claim is for assault and battery committed by the CCA through its employee, Correctional Officer *Adam Butler*; for injuring the Plaintiff while acting within the scope of his employment and in the discharge of his duties on *January 3*~2008 at 8:15 p.m.
 13. The actions of *Correctional Officer Butler* were intentional
- 13. The actions of *Correctional Officer Butler* were intentional and without justification.
- 14. As a result of the assault and battery, Plaintiff was hospitalized for three weeks and received seventeen stitches in his neck and head.
- 15. As a result of the assault and battery, Plaintiff suffered serious physical and \setminus mental pain and anguish.
- 16. Plaintiff's hearing and back have been permanently impaired as a result of the blows to his head and back by *Correctional Officer Butler*.
- 17. The particulars of Plaintiff's damages are as follows:
 - a. Medical expenses: Explain your past, current, and future medical expenses related to this incident. Use dollar amounts.
 - b. Lost earnings: Write what you did before being incarcerated, what you planned to work as when you got out, and how the injury affected your plans. End with a dollar amount.
 - c. Pain and suffering: Explain your pain and suffering and fill out dollar amount.
 - d. Mental anguish: Explain and fill out dollar amount.
 - e. Permanent disability: Explain and fill out dollar amount.
- 18. In the event that the contract between CCA and the District of Columbia requires payment of the District of Columbia, notice of intention to file this claim was filed with and received by the Mayor of the District of Columbia, via the Office of Risk Management, within sixty days of the injury. A copy of the notice is attached to this claim as Exhibit "B."
- 19. This claim is filed within one year after the claim accrued, as required by law. *See* D.C. Code § 12-301.

COUNT TWO: CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT

- 20. Plaintiff incorporates herein the allegations made in paragraphs 1-19 of this Complaint.
- 21. Defendants are all "persons" under 42 U.S.C. 1983.

Change this section to describe YOUR injuries.

- 22. Defendants acted under "color of law" in depriving Plaintiff of his right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment as guaranteed by the Eighth Amendment.
- 23. Defendant *Butler* was personally involved in violating Plaintiff's constitutional rights because he inflicted the injury.
- 24. Defendant CCA was personally involved in violating Plaintiff's constitutional rights because CCA did not have appropriate policies in place, nor provide appropriate training to the guards to prevent guards from giving conflicting orders to prisoners; using excessive force; or responding inappropriately to a fellow guard's use of excessive force.
- 25. Defendant District of Columbia was personally involved in the violation of Plaintiff's constitutional rights because the District did not exercise appropriate oversight over CCA's policies and training of guards.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment against defendants in the sum of ten thousand five hundred and eight-two dollars (\$10, \$82) and such other and further relief the Court deems justified.

Dated: June 15, 2008 <u>Sm</u>ith

Signature: John B.

PLAINTIFF DEMANDS TRIAL BY JURY ON HIS CLAIMS FOR DAMAGES

Appendix F: Forms for Filing a Complaint in D.C. Superior Court—*Civil Actions* Branch

- F-1: Civil Actions Information Sheet
- F-2: Form Complaint
- F-3: In Forma Pauperis Application
- F-4: Summons
- F-5: Notice and Acknowledgement for Service by Mail
- F-6: Service of Process Form
- F-7: Form Motion

Superior Court of the District of Columbia

CIVIL DIVISION - CIVIL ACTIONS BRANCH

INFORMATION SHEET

	C:	ase Number:		
VS	D	ate:		
	\Box One of the defendants is being sued			
	in their official capacity.			
Name: (please print)		Relationship to Lawsuit Attorney for Plaintiff		
Firm Name:		□ Self (Pro Se)		
Telephone No.: Six	digit Unified Bar No.:	Other:		
TYPE OF CASE:	•	□ 12 Person Jury		
PENDING CASE(S) RELATED TO TH Case No.: J		Calendar #:		
Case No.:J	udge:	Calendar #:		
NATURE OF SUIT: (Check One Box C	Dnly)			
A. CONTRACTS	СО	LLECTION CASES		
$\Box 01 \text{ Breach of Contract} \qquad \Box 07 \text{ Pe}$	01 Breach of Contract07 Personal Property14 Under \$25,000 Pltf. Grants Consent02 Breach of Warranty09 Real Property-Real Estate16 Under \$25,000 Consent Denied			
□ 02 Breach of Warranty □ 09 Real Property-Real Estate □ 16 Under \$25,000 Consent Denied □ 06 Negotiable Instrument □ 12 Specific Performance □ 17 OVER \$25,000 Pltf. Grants Consent □ 15 □ 12 Specific Performance □ 17 OVER \$25,000 Pltf. Grants Consent				
B. PROPERTY TORTS D 1 Automobile D 2 Conversion 07 Shoplifting, D.C. Code § 27-102(a)	 03 Destruction of Private Property 04 Property Damage 	 05 Trespass 06 Traffic Adjudication 		
C. PERSONAL TORTS 01 Abuse of Process 02 Alienation of Affection 03 Assault and Battery 04 Automobile-Personal Injury 05 Deceit (Misrepresentation) 06 False Accusation 07 False Arrest 08 Fraud	 09 Harassment 10 Invasion of Privacy 11 Libel and Slander 12 Malicious Interference 13 Malicious Prosecution 14 Malpractice Legal 15 Malpractice Medical (Including wrongful) 16 Negligence-(Not Automobile Not Malpractice) 			

SEE REVERSE SIDE AND CHECK HERE \Box IF USED

INFORMATION SHEET, Continued

D. OTHERS I. 01 Accounting 02 Att. Before Judgment 04 Condemnation (Emin. Domain) 05 Ejectment 07 Insurance/Subrogation Under \$25,000 Pltf. Grants Consent 08 Quiet Title 09 Special Writ/Warrants DC Code § 11-941	 10 T.R.O./Injunction 11 Writ of Replevin 12 Enforce Mechanics Lien 16 Declaratory Judgment 17 Merit Personnel Act (OEA) (D.C. Code Title 1, Chapter 6) 18 Product Liability 24 Application to Confirm, Modify, Vacate Arbitration Award (D.C. Code § 16-4315) 	 25 Liens: Tax/Water Consent Granted 26 Insurance/Subrogation Under \$25,000 Consent Denied 27 Insurance/Subrogation Over \$25,000 28 Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award (Collection Cases Only) 26 Merit Personnel Act (OHR) 30 Liens: Tax/Water Consent Denied
II. 03 Change of Name 06 Foreign Judgment 13 Correction of Birth Certificate 14 Correction of Marriage Certificate	 15 Libel of Information 19 Enter Administrative Order as Judgment [D.C. Code § 2-1802.03(h) or 32-1519(a)] 20 Master Meter (D.C. Code § 42-3301, et seq.) 	 21 Petition for Subpoena [Rule 28-I (b)] 22 Release Mechanics Lien 23 Rule 27 (a)(1) (Perpetuate Testimony)

For individuals not represented by an attorney: () I acknowledge receipt of the Civil Actions Pro Se Handbook.

Signature

Date

CV-496/October 2010
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA **CIVIL DIVISION**

Plaintiff

CIVIL Action No.

Defendants

COMPLAINT

Jurisdiction of this court is founded on D.C. Code Annotated, 2001 edition, as amended, Sec. 11-921. 1.

Wherefore, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant in the sum of ⁵ with interest and costs.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, SS

being first duly sworn on oath deposes and says that the foregoing is a just and true statement of the amount owing by defendant to the plaintiff, exclusive of all set-offs and just grounds of defense.

(Plaintiff

day of

Agent)

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

Phone:

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FAMILY COURT and CIVIL DIVISION

Plaintiff/Petitioner

v.

Case no:_____

Defendant/Respondent

APPLICATION TO PROCEED WITHOUT PREPAYMENT OF COSTS, FEES, OR SECURITY (In Forma Pauperis) Form 106A

I, _____ □ Plaintiff/Petitioner □ Defendant/Respondent

_____ am the (check one)

I need an interpreter for this case. I speak the following language: _____ [Insert Language].

I respectfully ask permission to proceed in this case without pre-paying costs or fees and without giving security for them because I am not able to do so without substantial hardship to myself or to my family. In support of this request, I state the following:

Check and answer only those that apply.

INCOME

1. I receive the following public benefits, and the law presumes that I am eligible to proceed without prepayment of costs, fees, or security (see D.C. Code § 15-712):

- □ Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF)
- □ General Assistance for Children (GAC)
- □ Program on Work, Employment and Responsibility (POWER)
- □ Supplemental Security Income (SSI)

2. Even though I do not receive the above public benefits, I receive the following similar benefits and, therefore, request that my Application be approved:

- □ Interim Disability Assistance (IDA) because my SSI application has not been approved/certified
- □ Medicaid
- □ DC Healthcare Alliance or the following similar health benefits (describe)______.

If you checked any of the above boxes, you do not need to answer any more questions and may skip to the section called "Declaration." Otherwise, you must answer the rest of the questions on this form. If additional information is required, you will be notified.

3. My total income over the past 12 months from all sources (including, but not limited to, my job, other wages or business income, rental income, pensions, annuities or life insurance payments, worker's compensation, unemployment compensation or insurance, annual interest or dividends, gifts, alimony or spousal support, inheritance or trust income) is \$_____.

4. I am presently unemployed. The last date I worked was on

Month Year

DEPENDENTS

5. How many people live in your household and depend on you for support: ______. Of these people, how many are minor children or elderly? ______.

ASSETS

6. I state the following about my property:

I have \$_____ in cash, including money in savings or checking accounts.

I own the vehicles, personal home, other real estate, stock, bonds, or other valuable property, besides household furnishings and clothing, listed below:

 List the Property	

EXPENSES

7. This is my best estimate of the monthly expenses for myself and the people in my household who depend on me for support:

Housing (rent, mortgage, taxes, & insurance): \$
Public Transportation and Gasoline:
Automobile Loan, Insurance, Maintenance:
Health (medical, dental, vision, prescriptions, insurance): \$
Food and other Household Necessities:
Utilities (including gas, electric, water, phone, internet): \$
Clothing: \$
Child Support: \$
Childcare (including diapers, daycare): \$
Other (explain in detail): \$

Total Estimated Monthly Expenses: \$_____

OTHER SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES

□ 8. (Optional) Explain any other special circumstances that you want to have considered in support of your request, including any large monthly expenses, debts, wage or bank account garnishments, and/or judgments.

DECLARATION

REQUIRED: I solemnly swear or affirm under criminal penalties for the making of a false statement, which includes 180 days in jail or a \$1,000 fine or both, that I have read this Application and that the factual statements made in it are true to the best of my personal knowledge, information and belief.¹

Signature		
Address	 	
Phone Number	 	
Date	 	

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATION TO PROCEED WITHOUT PREPAYMENT OF COSTS, FEES, OR SECURITY

- 1. D.C. Code § 15-712.
- 2. D.C. Code § 22-2405.
- 3. Civil Rule 54-II, Domestic Relations Proceedings Rule 54-II, and Family Rule R.
- 4. Adkins v. E.I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co., Inc., 335 U.S. 331 (1948).
- 5. *Harris v. Harris*, 137 U.S. App. D.C. 318, 322, 424 F.2d 806 (1970), *cert. denied*, 400 U.S. 826 (1970) ("*in forma pauperis* relief not limited to those who are public charges or absolutely destitute").
- 6. *Green v. Green*, 562 A.2d 1214 (D.C. 1989) (statute "effectuates the fundamental principle that every litigant should be provided equal access to the courts without regard to financial ability").
- 7. *Herbin v. Hoeffel*, 727 A.2d 883, 887 (D.C. 1999) (court officers serve process in *in forma pauperis* cases).
- 8. *Cabillo v. Cabillo*, 317 A.2d 866, 866 (D.C. 1974) (per curiam) (reversing denial of *in forma pauperis* status and mandating granting of petition where litigant's income "only slightly above the welfare standard").

¹ When you come to court, you may be asked questions about this Application. If your responses are not truthful, you could face additional criminal penalties.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FAMILY COURT and CIVIL DIVISION

Plaintiff/Petitioner

v.

Case No._____

Defendant/Respondent

<u>ORDER</u>

Having considered

Plaintiff/Petitioner's

Defendant/Respondent's

Application to Proceed without Prepayment of Costs, Fees, or Security, it is

hereby ordered that the Application is:

- GRANTED in this Family Court case and, pursuant to Domestic
 Relations Rule 54-II, witnesses will be subpoenaed without
 prepayment of witness fees;
- GRANTED in this Civil Division case and, pursuant to Civil Rule 54-II, the officers of the Court will issue and serve all process; witnesses will be subpoenaed without prepayment of witness fees;
- □ **DENIED**

 - □ For the reasons stated on the record in open court and in the presence of the applicant or his or her counsel;



Superior Court of the District of Columbia CIVIL DIVISION 500 Indiana Avenue, N.W., Suite 5000 Washington, D.C. 20001 Telephone: (202) 879-1133

Plaintiff

vs.

Case Number

Defendant

SUMMONS

To the above named Defendant:

You are hereby summoned and required to serve an Answer to the attached Complaint, either personally or through an attorney, within twenty (20) days after service of this summons upon you, exclusive of the day of service. If you are being sued as an officer or agency of the United States Government or the District of Columbia Government, you have sixty (60) days after service of this summons to serve your Answer. A copy of the Answer must be mailed to the attorney for the party plaintiff who is suing you. The attorney's name and address appear below. If plaintiff has no attorney, a copy of the Answer must be mailed to the plaintiff at the address stated on this Summons.

You are also required to file the original Answer with the Court in Suite 5000 at 500 Indiana Avenue, N.W., between 8:30 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Mondays through Fridays or between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon on Saturdays. You may file the original Answer with the Court either before you serve a copy of the Answer on the plaintiff or within five (5) days after you have served the plaintiff. If you fail to file an Answer, judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.

Name of Plaintiff's Attorney		Clerk of the Court		
		Ву		
Address		-	Deputy Clerk	
		Date		
Telephone				
如需翻译,请打电话 (202) 879-4828	Veuillez appeler	au (202) 879-4828 pour une traduction	Để có một bài dịch, hãy gọi (202) 879-4828	

번역을 원하시면, (202) 879-4828 **로 전화주십시요 የአማር**ኛ *ትርጉም ለማግኘት* (202) 879-4828 ይደውሉ

IMPORTANT: IF YOU FAIL TO FILE AN ANSWER WITHIN THE TIME STATED ABOVE, OR IF, AFTER YOU ANSWER, YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT ANY TIME THE COURT NOTIFIES YOU TO DO SO, A JUDGMENT BY DEFAULT MAY BE ENTERED AGAINST YOU FOR THE MONEY DAMAGES OR OTHER RELIEF DEMANDED IN THE COMPLAINT. IF THIS OCCURS, YOUR WAGES MAY BE ATTACHED OR WITHHELD OR PERSONAL PROPERTY OR REAL ESTATE YOU OWN MAY BE TAKEN AND SOLD TO PAY THE JUDGMENT. IF YOU INTEND TO OPPOSE THIS ACTION, *DO NOT FAIL TO ANSWER WITHIN THE REQUIRED TIME*.

If you wish to talk to a lawyer and feel that you cannot afford to pay a fee to a lawyer, promptly contact one of the offices of the Legal Aid Society (202-628-1161) or the Neighborhood Legal Services (202-682-2700) for help or come to Suite 5000 at 500 Indiana Avenue, N.W., for more information concerning places where you may ask for such help.

See reverse side for Spanish translation Vea al dorso la traducción al español



SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIVIL DIVISION

Plaintiff(s)

v.

Case No:

Defendant(s)

NOTICE

To (insert name and address of the party to be served):

The enclosed summons, complaint and initial order are served pursuant to Rule 4(c)(4) of the Superior Court Rules of Civil Procedure.

You must sign and date the Acknowledgement (below). If you are served on behalf of a corporation, unincorporated association (including a partnership), or other entity, you must indicate next to your signature your relationship to that entity. If you are served on behalf of another person and you are authorized to receive process, you must indicate next to your signature your authority.

If you do not complete and return the form to the sender within twenty (20) days after it has been mailed, you (or the other party on whose behalf you are being served) may be required to pay any expenses incurred in serving a summons, complaint and initial order in any other manner permitted by law.

If you do complete and return this form, you (or the other party on whose behalf you are being served) must answer the complaint within twenty (20) days after you have signed, dated and returned the form. If you fail to do so, judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.

This Notice and Acknowledgment of Receipt of Summons, Complaint and Initial Order was mailed on (insert date): ______.

Signature

Date of Signature

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT OF SUMMONS, COMPLAINT, AND INITIAL ORDER

I (print name) ______ order in the above captioned matter at (insert address):

received a copy of the summons, complaint and initial

Signature

Relationship to Defendant/Authority Date of Signature to Receive Service

Para pedir una traducción, llame al (202) 879-4828 Để có một bài dịch, hãy gọi (202) 879-4828 如需翻译,请打电话 (202) 879-4828 የአማርኛ ትርጉም ስማግኘት (202) 879-4828 ይደውሱ Veuillez appeler au (202) 879-4828 pour une traduction 번역을 원하시면, (202) 879-4828 로 전화주십시요

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIVIL DIVISION, CIVIL ACTIONS BRANCH 500 Indiana Ave., N.W., Room 5000 Washington, D.C. 20001 Telephone (202) 879-1133

	С	ase No	
Plaintiff	-	Defendant	
Address	VS.	Address	
AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE BY PRIV	- ATE INDIVIDUAL	ACTING AS SPECIAL PROCE	SS SERVER
I,	, age 18 o	or older, residing or working at	
and not a party and without an interest in th	is case, state that on _	, 20, at	AM/PM:
1. I served a copy of the summons, compl (check one of the following):	aint and initial order,	if necessary, and any attachments	as follows
On the Defendant	persona		
By leaving said copy with resides with Defendant at		a person of suitable age and discre	etion, who
 (For a corporation, partnership, or asso one of the following:) an officer a managing or gener service of process 	ciation) I served		, (check
2. You must set forth specific facts from wl and in compliance with SCR CIV 4, includ person on whom service was made:		1	
Subscribed and sworn to before me this	day of	Special Process Server , 20	
Notary Public / Deputy Clerk		My commission expires	ess for service

NOTE: A separate Affidavit is required for service on each named Defendant

Superior Court of the District of Columbia CIVIL DIVISION

Plain	_
vs Defendant	No.
MOTION	N - (Pro-Se)
MOTION OF: I	
(State briefly what you want the Court to do)	
Printed name:	Signature:
Address:	Home phone no.
	Business phone no.
CERTIFICAT	TE OF SERVICE
On the plaintiff(s) and the defendant(s) who do not have lawyer	I mailed this motion to all the lawyers in the case, rs, as listed below:
Name:	Name:
Address:	Address:

Signature

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

(Write the reasons why the Court should grant your motion and include Court rules, laws and cases, if any, that support your reasons.)

Appendix G: Forms for Filing a Complaint in D.C. Superior Court—Small Claims Branch

- G-1: Small Claims Information Sheet
- G-2: Form Complaint
- G-3: In Forma Pauperis Application
- G-4: Summons
- G-5: Service of Process Form
- G-6: Form Motion

STRAIDR COLLARS

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIVIL DIVISION SMALL CLAIMS AND CONCILIATION BRANCH INFORMATION SHEET

	Case No:
Plaintiff	
VS	
	Date:
Defendant	
Name: (<i>please print</i>)	Relationship to Lawsuit
	Attorney for Plaintiff
Firm Name, if applicable	
	Self (Pro Se)
Talashana Na. (Digit Unified Day Na	
Telephone No: 6 Digit Unified Bar No.	
Do you need an interpreter for your case? Yes	No If yes, what type:
AMOUNT IN CONTROVERSY: S1 -\$500	\$500.01 - \$2,500 \$2,500.01 - \$5,000
PENDING CASE(S) RELATED TO THE ACTION BE	ING FILED:
Case No:	Case No:
NATURE OF SUIT: (Check One Box Only)	
A. CONTRACTS – a claim based on an agreement bet	ween parties made either orally or in writing
Debt Suit Breach of Warranty	Negotiable Instrument
Personal Property Loan	Rent Due
Unpaid Wages Services Rendered	Security Deposit
Breach of Contract Home Improvemen	
B. PROPERTY TORTS – a claim for an injury or wron	g committed on the property of another
Automobile Conversion	Shop Lifting
Property Damage Destruction of Prop	
C. PERSONAL TORT – a claim for an injury or wrong	
Assault and Battery False Witness	Libel and Slander
Automobile Personal Injury	Negligence
Harassment Fraudulent Misrep	esentation Slip and Fall
D. UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT – an action based on an arbitration agreement	G. SUBROGATION – a claim filed by one person in the place of another
E. D FOREIGN JUDGMENT- a judgment, decree or	H. COLLECTION- a claim filed by a seller or
order filed from another jurisdiction	lender to collect a consumer debt
F. MEDICAL MALPRACTICE – a claim against a	healthcare provider for professional misconduct
Have you given notice of intention to file your lawsuit 9	0 days prior to filing?
$20.46/P_{ev}$ Nov 07	

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FAMILY COURT and CIVIL DIVISION

Plaintiff/Petitioner

v.

Case no:_____

Defendant/Respondent

APPLICATION TO PROCEED WITHOUT PREPAYMENT OF COSTS, FEES, OR SECURITY (In Forma Pauperis) Form 106A

I, _____ □ Plaintiff/Petitioner □ Defendant/Respondent

_____ am the (check one)

I need an interpreter for this case. I speak the following language: _____ [Insert Language].

I respectfully ask permission to proceed in this case without pre-paying costs or fees and without giving security for them because I am not able to do so without substantial hardship to myself or to my family. In support of this request, I state the following:

Check and answer only those that apply.

INCOME

1. I receive the following public benefits, and the law presumes that I am eligible to proceed without prepayment of costs, fees, or security (see D.C. Code § 15-712):

- □ Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF)
- □ General Assistance for Children (GAC)
- □ Program on Work, Employment and Responsibility (POWER)
- □ Supplemental Security Income (SSI)

2. Even though I do not receive the above public benefits, I receive the following similar benefits and, therefore, request that my Application be approved:

- □ Interim Disability Assistance (IDA) because my SSI application has not been approved/certified
- □ Medicaid
- □ DC Healthcare Alliance or the following similar health benefits (describe)______.

If you checked any of the above boxes, you do not need to answer any more questions and may skip to the section called "Declaration." Otherwise, you must answer the rest of the questions on this form. If additional information is required, you will be notified.

3. My total income over the past 12 months from all sources (including, but not limited to, my job, other wages or business income, rental income, pensions, annuities or life insurance payments, worker's compensation, unemployment compensation or insurance, annual interest or dividends, gifts, alimony or spousal support, inheritance or trust income) is \$_____.

4. I am presently unemployed. The last date I worked was on

Month Year

DEPENDENTS

5. How many people live in your household and depend on you for support: ______. Of these people, how many are minor children or elderly? ______.

ASSETS

6. I state the following about my property:

I have \$_____ in cash, including money in savings or checking accounts.

I own the vehicles, personal home, other real estate, stock, bonds, or other valuable property, besides household furnishings and clothing, listed below:

 List the Property	

EXPENSES

7. This is my best estimate of the monthly expenses for myself and the people in my household who depend on me for support:

Housing (rent, mortgage, taxes, & insurance): \$
Public Transportation and Gasoline:
Automobile Loan, Insurance, Maintenance:
Health (medical, dental, vision, prescriptions, insurance): \$
Food and other Household Necessities:
Utilities (including gas, electric, water, phone, internet): \$
Clothing: \$
Child Support: \$
Childcare (including diapers, daycare): \$
Other (explain in detail): \$

Total Estimated Monthly Expenses: \$_____

OTHER SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES

□ 8. (Optional) Explain any other special circumstances that you want to have considered in support of your request, including any large monthly expenses, debts, wage or bank account garnishments, and/or judgments.

DECLARATION

REQUIRED: I solemnly swear or affirm under criminal penalties for the making of a false statement, which includes 180 days in jail or a \$1,000 fine or both, that I have read this Application and that the factual statements made in it are true to the best of my personal knowledge, information and belief.¹

Signature		
Address	 	
Phone Number	 	
Date	 	

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF APPLICATION TO PROCEED WITHOUT PREPAYMENT OF COSTS, FEES, OR SECURITY

- 1. D.C. Code § 15-712.
- 2. D.C. Code § 22-2405.
- 3. Civil Rule 54-II, Domestic Relations Proceedings Rule 54-II, and Family Rule R.
- 4. Adkins v. E.I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co., Inc., 335 U.S. 331 (1948).
- 5. *Harris v. Harris*, 137 U.S. App. D.C. 318, 322, 424 F.2d 806 (1970), *cert. denied*, 400 U.S. 826 (1970) ("*in forma pauperis* relief not limited to those who are public charges or absolutely destitute").
- 6. *Green v. Green*, 562 A.2d 1214 (D.C. 1989) (statute "effectuates the fundamental principle that every litigant should be provided equal access to the courts without regard to financial ability").
- 7. *Herbin v. Hoeffel*, 727 A.2d 883, 887 (D.C. 1999) (court officers serve process in *in forma pauperis* cases).
- 8. *Cabillo v. Cabillo*, 317 A.2d 866, 866 (D.C. 1974) (per curiam) (reversing denial of *in forma pauperis* status and mandating granting of petition where litigant's income "only slightly above the welfare standard").

¹ When you come to court, you may be asked questions about this Application. If your responses are not truthful, you could face additional criminal penalties.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FAMILY COURT and CIVIL DIVISION

Plaintiff/Petitioner

v.

Case No._____

Defendant/Respondent

<u>ORDER</u>

Having considered

Plaintiff/Petitioner's

Defendant/Respondent's

Application to Proceed without Prepayment of Costs, Fees, or Security, it is

hereby ordered that the Application is:

- GRANTED in this Family Court case and, pursuant to Domestic
 Relations Rule 54-II, witnesses will be subpoenaed without
 prepayment of witness fees;
- GRANTED in this Civil Division case and, pursuant to Civil Rule 54-II, the officers of the Court will issue and serve all process; witnesses will be subpoenaed without prepayment of witness fees;
- □ **DENIED**

 - □ For the reasons stated on the record in open court and in the presence of the applicant or his or her counsel;



Superior Court of the District of Columbia CIVIL DIVISION 500 Indiana Avenue, N.W., Suite 5000 Washington, D.C. 20001 Telephone: (202) 879-1133

Plaintiff

vs.

Case Number

Defendant

SUMMONS

To the above named Defendant:

You are hereby summoned and required to serve an Answer to the attached Complaint, either personally or through an attorney, within twenty (20) days after service of this summons upon you, exclusive of the day of service. If you are being sued as an officer or agency of the United States Government or the District of Columbia Government, you have sixty (60) days after service of this summons to serve your Answer. A copy of the Answer must be mailed to the attorney for the party plaintiff who is suing you. The attorney's name and address appear below. If plaintiff has no attorney, a copy of the Answer must be mailed to the plaintiff at the address stated on this Summons.

You are also required to file the original Answer with the Court in Suite 5000 at 500 Indiana Avenue, N.W., between 8:30 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Mondays through Fridays or between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon on Saturdays. You may file the original Answer with the Court either before you serve a copy of the Answer on the plaintiff or within five (5) days after you have served the plaintiff. If you fail to file an Answer, judgment by default may be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.

Name of Plaintiff's Attorney		Clerk of the Court		
		Ву		
Address		-	Deputy Clerk	
		Date		
Telephone				
如需翻译,请打电话 (202) 879-4828	Veuillez appeler	au (202) 879-4828 pour une traduction	Để có một bài dịch, hãy gọi (202) 879-4828	

번역을 원하시면, (202) 879-4828 **로 전화주십시요 የአማር**ኛ *ትርጉም ለማግኘት* (202) 879-4828 ይደውሉ

IMPORTANT: IF YOU FAIL TO FILE AN ANSWER WITHIN THE TIME STATED ABOVE, OR IF, AFTER YOU ANSWER, YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT ANY TIME THE COURT NOTIFIES YOU TO DO SO, A JUDGMENT BY DEFAULT MAY BE ENTERED AGAINST YOU FOR THE MONEY DAMAGES OR OTHER RELIEF DEMANDED IN THE COMPLAINT. IF THIS OCCURS, YOUR WAGES MAY BE ATTACHED OR WITHHELD OR PERSONAL PROPERTY OR REAL ESTATE YOU OWN MAY BE TAKEN AND SOLD TO PAY THE JUDGMENT. IF YOU INTEND TO OPPOSE THIS ACTION, *DO NOT FAIL TO ANSWER WITHIN THE REQUIRED TIME*.

If you wish to talk to a lawyer and feel that you cannot afford to pay a fee to a lawyer, promptly contact one of the offices of the Legal Aid Society (202-628-1161) or the Neighborhood Legal Services (202-682-2700) for help or come to Suite 5000 at 500 Indiana Avenue, N.W., for more information concerning places where you may ask for such help.

See reverse side for Spanish translation Vea al dorso la traducción al español

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CIVIL DIVISION, SMALL CLAIMS AND RECONCILIATION BRANCH BLDG B, 510 4th Street, N.W., Room 120 Washington, D.C. 20001 Telephone (202) 879-1120

	Case No.			
Plaintiff		Defendant		
Address		Address		
AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE BY PRIVA	TE INDIVIDUA	AL ACTING AS SPECIAL PROCES	SS SERVER	
I,	, age 18 or older, residing or working at			
and not a party and without an interest in thi	s case, state that	on, 20, at	AM/PM:	
1. I served a copy of the statement of claim the following):	n, verification and	l notice and any attachments as follow	s (check one of	
On the Defendant	personally at			
By leaving said copy with resides with Defendant at		, a person of suitable age and discre	tion, who	
 □ (For a corporation, partnership, or associate one of the following:) □ an officer □ a managing or generative service of process 				
2. You must set forth specific facts from wh and in compliance with SCR SC 4, including person on whom service was made:		1		
Subscribed and sworn to before me this	day of	Special Process Server , 20		
Notary Public / Deputy Clerk		My commission expires		
		□ New addre	ss for service	

NOTE: A separate Affidavit is required for service on each named Defendant

Superior Court of the District of Columbia CIVIL DIVISION

Plain	_
vs Defendant	No.
MOTION	N - (Pro-Se)
MOTION OF: I	
(State briefly what you want the Court to do)	
Printed name:	Signature:
Address:	Home phone no.
	Business phone no.
CERTIFICAT	TE OF SERVICE
On the plaintiff(s) and the defendant(s) who do not have lawyer	I mailed this motion to all the lawyers in the case, rs, as listed below:
Name:	Name:
Address:	Address:

Signature

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

(Write the reasons why the Court should grant your motion and include Court rules, laws and cases, if any, that support your reasons.)

CLAIM FOR DAMAGE, INJURY, OR DEATH	SUPPLY OF DAMAGE, supply information requested on both sides of the form. Use additional sheet(s) if OMB					
1. Submit To Appropriate Federal Agency: 2. Name, Address of claimant and claimant's personal representative, if any. (See instructions on reverse.) (Number, street, city, State and Zip Code)						
3. TYPE OF EMPLOYMENT 4. DATE OF BIRTH	H 5. MARITAL STATUS	6. DATE AND D	AY OF ACCIDE	NT	7. TIME (A.M. or P.N	
Basis of Claim (State in detail the known facts and circumstances attending the damage, injury, or death, identifying persons and property involved, the place of occurrence and the cause thereof) (Use additional pages if necessary.) PROPERTY DAMAGE NAME AND ADDRESS OF OWNER, IF OTHER THAN CLAIMANT (Number, street, city, State, and Zip Code) BRIEFLY DESCRIBE THE PROPERTY, NATURE AND EXTENT OF DAMAGE AND THE LOCATION WHERE PROPERTY MAY BE INSPECTED. (See instructions on reverse side.) 10. PERSONAL INJURY/WRONGFUL DEATH STATE NATURE AND EXTENT OF EACH INJURY OR CAUSE OF DEATH, WHICH FORMS THE BASIS OF THE CLAIM. IF OTHER THAN CLAIMANT, STATE NAME OF INJURED PERSON OR DECEDENT.						
		2050				
11. NAME	WITNES		(Number, street	t, city, State, and Z	ip Code)	
12. (See instructions on reverse)						
12a. PROPERTY DAMAGE 12b. PERSC	DNAL INJURY 1	2c. WRONGFUL	DEATH	12d. IOTAL (Faild forfeiture of	ire to specify may caus your rights.)	
I CERTIFY THAT THE AMOUNT OF CLAIM CO SAID AMOUNT IN FULL SATISFACTION AND I			AUSED BY THE A	ACCIDENT ABOVE	AND AGREE TO ACCE	
13a. SIGNATURE OF CLAIMANT <i>(See instructi</i>			13b. Phone nu	mber of signatory	14. DATE OF CLAIM	
CIVIL PENALTY FOR PRESENTING FRAUDULENT CLAIM		CRIMINAL PENALTY FOR PRESENTING FRAUDULENT CLAIM OR MAKING FALSE STATEMENTS				
The claimant shall forfeit and pay to the United States the sum of \$2,000 plus double the amount of damages sustained by the United States. (See 31 U.S.C. 3729.) Fine of not more than \$10,000 or imprisonment for not more than or both. (See 18 U.S.C. 287, 1001.) 95-109 NSN 7540-00-634-4046 STANDARD FORM 95 (Rev. precorders proceedings of the second seco						

PRIVACY ACT NOTICE

This Notice is provided in accordance with the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. 552a(e)(3), an concerns the information requested in the letter to which this Notice is attached. A. *Authority:* The requested information is solicited pursuant to one or more of the following: 5 U.S.C. 301, 38 U.S.C. 501 et seq., 28 U.S.C. 2671 et seq., 28 C.F.R. Part 14.

- This Notice is provided in accordance with the Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. 552a(e)(3), and B. *Principal Purpose:* The information requested is to be used in evaluating claims.
 - C. *Routine Use:* See the Notices of Systems of Records for the agency to whom you are submitting this form for this information.
 - D. Effect of Failure to Respond: Disclosure is voluntary. However, failure to supply the requested information or to execute the form may render your claim "invalid".

INSTRUCTIONS

Complete all items - insert the word NONE where applicable

A CLAIM SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE BEEN PRESENTED WHEN A FEDERAL AGENCY RECEIVES FROM A CLAIMANT, HIS DULY AUTHORIZED AGENT, OR LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE AN EXECUTED STANDARD FORM 95 OR OTHER WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF AN INCIDENT, ACCOMPANIED BY A CLAIM FOR MONEY DAMAGES IN A **SUM CERTAIN** FOR INJURY TO OR LOSS OF

Any instructions or information necessary in the preparation of your claim will be furnished, upon request, by the office indicated in Item #1 on the reverse side. Complete regulations pertaining to claims asserted under the Federal Tort Claims Act can be found in Title 28, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 14. Many agencies have published supplemental regulations also. If more than one agency is involved, please state each agency.

The claim may be filed by a duly authorized agent or other legal representative, provided evidence satisfactory to the Government is submitted with said claim establishing express authority to act for the claimant. A claim presented by an agent or legal representative must be presented in the name of the claimant. If the claim is signed by the agent or legal representative, it must show the title or legal capacity of the person signing and be accompanied by evidence of his/her authority to present a claim on behalf of the claimant as agent, executor, administrator, parent, guardian or other representative.

If claimant intends to file claim for both personal injury and property damage, claim for both must be shown in Item 12 of this form.

The amount claimed should be substantiated by competent evidence as follows: (a) In support of the claim for personal injury or death, the claimant should submit a written report by the attending physician, showing the nature and extent of injury, the nature and extent of treatment, the degree of permanent disability, if any, the prognosis, and the period of hospitalization, or incapacitation, attaching itemized bills for medical, hospital, or burial expenses actually incurred.

PROPERTY, PERSONAL INJURY, OR DEATH ALLEGED TO HAVE OCCURRED BY REASON OF THE INCIDENT. THE CLAIM MUST BE PRESENTED TO THE APPROPRIATE FEDERAL AGENCY WITHIN <u>TWO YEARS</u> AFTER THE CLAIM ACCRUES.

(b) In support of claims for damage to property which has been or can be economically repaired, the claimant should submit at least two itemized signed statements or estimates by reliable, disinterested concerns, or, if payment has been made, the itemized signed receipts evidencing payment.

(c) In support of claims for damage to property which is not economically repairable, or if the property is lost or destroyed, the claimant should submit statements as to the original cost of the property, the date of purchase, and the value of the property, both before and after the accident. Such statements should be by disinterested competent persons, preferably reputable dealers or officials familiar with the type of property damaged, or by two or more competitive bidders, and should be certified as being just and correct.

(d) Failure to completely execute this form or to supply the requested material within two years from the date the allegations accrued may render your claim "invalid". A claim is deemed presented when it is received by the appropriate agency, not when it is mailed.

Failure to specify a sum certain will result in invalid presentation of your claim and may result in forfeiture of your rights.

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 15 minutes per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden,

Director, Torts Branch					
Civil Division	Office of Management and Budget				
U.S. Department of Justice	Paperwork Reduction Project (1105-	Paperwork Reduction Project (1105-0008)			
Washington, DC 20530	Washington, DC 20503	Washington, DC 20503			
INSURANCE COVERAGE					
In order that subrogation claims may be adjudicated, it is essential that the claimant provide the following information regarding the insurance coverage of his vehicle or property.					
15. Do you carry accident insurance? Yes, If yes, give name and address of insurance company (Number, street, city, State, and Zip Code) and policy number. No					
16. Have you filed claim on your insurance carrier in this instance, and if so, is it full coverage or deductible?		17. If deductible, state amount			
18. If claim has been filed with your carrier, what action ha	as your insurer taken or proposes to take with reference to your c	laim? (It is necessary that you ascertain these facts)			
19. Do you carry public liability and property damage insur-	ance? Yes, If yes, give name and address of insurance company (N	umber, street, city, State, and Zip Code) No			
19. Do you carry public liability and property damage insu-					

Appendix I: List of Process Servers

<u>Note</u>: The D.C. Prisoners' Project does not have any information regarding the quality of these process servers. The D.C. Prisoners' Project is not recommending these process servers.

Adante' Associates 2560 Harlem Avenue Baltimore, Maryland 21216 (410) 566-3020

B T Edwards Process Service, LLC 6501 Gold Yarrow Lane Upper Marlboro, Maryland 20772-4022 (800) 737-8348

Constable Services P.O. Box 3673 Laurel, Maryland 20709 (888) 364-7774

Monumental Process Servers, Inc. 221 West Joppa Road Towson, Maryland 21204 (800) 547-3783

Same Day Process Service 1322 Maryland Avenue N.E. Washington, D.C. 20002 (202) 398-4200

United States Process Serving Corp. 1322 Maryland Avenue N.E. Washington D.C. 20002 (202) 398-4200

Appendix J: Resources

<u>Note</u>: The D.C. Prisoners' Project does not have any information regarding the quality of these organizations or publications. The D.C. Prisoners' Project is not recommending these organizations or publications.

Organizations

The Public Defender Service for the District of Columbia has several divisions that may be able to help you. The Community Defender Division houses the Institutional Services Program (ISP) and the Community Re-entry Program (CRP). The ISP protects the legal rights of prisoners and the CRP responds to the legal and social needs of those returning home from prison. You can reach the Community Defender Program at 680 Rhode Island Avenue, NE, Suite H-5, Washington, D.C. 20002. The telephone number is (202) 824-2801.

The Special Litigation Division of the Public Defender Service addresses systematic criminal justice issues, including trial practices. The main Trial Division represents people in criminal trials. The Parole Division represents people in revocation of parole hearings. You can reach these divisions by writing 633 Indiana Ave., N.W., Washington, D.C. 20004. The phone number is (202) 628-1200.

University of the District of Columbia School of Law HIV/AIDS Legal Clinic, 4200 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Bldg. #38, 2nd Fl. Washington, D.C. 20008 http://www.law.udc.edu/programs/index.html: 202-274-7312

Law students in the HIV/AIDS Clinic handle family law and public entitlement issues for HIV/AIDS patients and their families.

University Legal Services Protection and Advocacy Program

http://www.uls-dc.org/: 202-547-0198

University Legal Services Protection and Advocacy Program provides legal representation to District residents with disabilities

Publications

Jailhouse Lawyer's Manual

Columbia Human Rights Law Review 425 West 116th Street New York, NY 10027 Attn: JLM Order Manual written for prisoners *in New York*. The Seventh Edition main volume is \$25 for prisoners. The *Immigration & Consular Access Supplement* is \$5. The *JLM* Spanish language edition (SJLM) is \$15. First class shipping is included in the price. Prices may change. Send a check or money order payable to Columbia Human Rights Law Review. The manual is also available for free on-line: http://hrlr.razummedia.com/ejlm.php.

Lewisburg Prison Project

Box 128 Lewisburg, PA 17837

Free brochure about *federal* prisoners' rights; include self-addressed stamped envelope.

National Prison Project Journal

National Prison Project of the ACLU 733 15th Street N.W. Suite 620 Washington, D.C. 20006

Prisoners' rights news and court cases; \$2 for prisoners.

Protecting Your Health and Safety: A Litigation Guide for Inmates

Prison Legal News 2400 N.W. 80th Street #148 Seattle, WA 98117

Explains rights related to health and safety (does not cover criminal matters); \$10

You can also subscribe to Prison Legal news for \$18 per year. Write to the same address.

Self-Help Litigation Manual

Oceana Press 75 Main Street Dobbs Ferry, NY 10522

Information on legal research and how to litigate; \$30

D.C. PRISONERS' PROJECT WASHINGTON LAWYERS COMMITTEE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS AND URBAN AFFAIRS

11 Dupont Circle, N.W. Suite 400 Washington, D.C. 20036

PRISONER HELP LINE

(We accept collect calls) (202) 775-0323

Please write us with suggestions for the next edition of this handbook or other handbooks you would like to see.